
  
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

REGULATION COMMITTEE 
 
 

Tuesday, 18th May, 2010, at 10.00 am Ask for: Andrew Tait 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County 
Hall, Maidstone 

Telephone 01622 694342 

   
Tea/Coffee will be available15 minute before the start of the meeting. 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 
 

1. Substitutes  

2. Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this meeting.  

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 16) 

 (a) Committee: 26 January 2010 
(b) Member Panels: 29 January 2010 

19 February 2010 
19 March 2010 
27 April 2010  

 

4. Amendment to Member Panel Procedures  

 To replace the provision for speakers to address the Panel for “up to 5 Minutes” 
with the phrase “you will be given a reasonable time at the Chairman’s discretion” 
(with consequential textual amendments)    
 

5. Update from the Commons Registration Team (Pages 17 - 22) 

6. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 - Public Rights of Way Diversion and 
Extinguishment Orders: Service Level Agreement with Ashford Borough Council 
(Pages 23 - 30) 

7. Update on the Definitive Map Team Casework Schedules. Clarification of the 
Committee terms of Reference and the County Council's approach to Orders made 
by the Secretary of State (Pages 31 - 50) 

8. Update on Planning Enforcement Issues (Pages 51 - 66) 

9. Other Items which the Chairman decides are Urgent  

10. Motion to exclude the press and public  

 That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds that it involves 



the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 5 and 6 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)  

  
 

11. Update on Planning Enforcement issues at Deal Field Shaw, Charing (Pages 67 - 
68) 

12. Update on Planning Enforcement issues at Four Gun Field, Upchurch (Pages 69 - 
70) 

 
 
Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services and Local Leadership 
(01622) 694002 
 

 
Monday, 10 May 2010 
 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee held in the Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 26 January 2010. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman)   Mr R Brookbank, Mr C J Capon, 
Mr H J Craske, Mr J Cubitt, Mrs V J Dagger (Substitute for Mr A D Crowther), 
Mr T Gates, Mr W A Hayton, Mr S J G Koowaree, Mr R J Lees, Mr S Manion, 
Mr R F Manning, Mr J Ozog, Mr R A Pascoe, Mr J Wedgbury and Mr M Whiting 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs S Thompson (Head of Planning Applications Group), 
Mr R Gregory (Principal Planning Officer Enforcement), Mr C Wade (PROW Team 
Manager (definition)), Mr S Bagshaw (Head of Admissions & Transport), Mr G Rudd 
(Assistant Democratic Services Manager) and Mr A Tait (Democratic Services 
Officer) 
 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
1. Minutes  
(Item 3) 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Committee meeting of 10 September 2009 and of 
the Member Panels held on 27 October 2009, 16 November 2009 and 14 December 
2009 are correctly recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.  
 
 
 
2. Update from the Commons Registration Team  
(Item 4) 
 
RESOLVED that the County Council’s participation in the pilot implementation of Part 
I of the Commons Act 2006 be noted and that the action taken this far be 
commended.  
 
3. Applications to register land as a Town or Village Green under Section 15 
of the Commons Act 2006  
(Item 5) 
 
(1)  A revised version of the report had previously been published and circulated to 
all members of the Committee.  
 
(2)  RESOLVED that:- 
 

(a) all applications for the registration of land as a new Town or Village 
Green made under Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 be dealt with 
in order of receipt; and  

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 

(b) in exceptional circumstances, where Officers consider that a particular 
case should be expedited, agreement to depart from the standard 
policy set out in (a) above be sought from an Informal member Group of 
the Regulation Committee.  

 
 
 
4. Presentation on Home to School Transport (including Home to School 
Transport Statistics)  
(Item 6) 
 
(1)  Mr S Manion made a declaration of Personal Interest as his children received 
free transport from home to school.  
 
(2)  Mr C J Capon informed the Committee that he was the Chairman of the 
Children, Families and Education Resources and Infrastructure Policy Overview 
Committee which had set up an Informal Member Group (IMG) to consider SEN 
Home to School Transport issues.  He offered to ensure that the views of the 
Regulation Committee were represented to the IMG. 
 
(3)  The Committee asked for additional information on the number of appeals that 
had been withdrawn before being considered by a Transport Appeals Panel. 
 
(4)  RESOLVED that the report be noted.   
 
5. Update on Planning Enforcement Issues  
(Item 7) 
 
(1)  The Schedules of Contraventions on (part) unauthorised sites and of Alleged 
breaches on Permitted Minerals and Waste Sites had previously been published and 
circulated to all members of the Committee. 
 
(2)  The Chairman informed the Committee that Mr R E King, the Local Member 
for the Deal Field Shaw (Shaw Grange) landfill site in Charing had written on behalf 
of the local residents to thank and congratulate the Committee and its Officers for all 
the work they had done towards restoring the site. 
 
(3)  RESOLVED to endorse the actions taken or contemplated on the respective 
cases set out in paragraphs 6 to 34 of the report and those contained within the 
Schedules set out in Appendices 1 and 2.   
 
 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 
(Open Access to Minutes) 

(Members resolved under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 that the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds that it 
involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 5 and 6 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act) 
 
6. Update on Planning Enforcement issues at Deal Field Shaw, Charing  
(Item 9) 

Page 2



 

 
(1)  The Head of Planning Applications Group reported on the latest enforcement 
position concerning the Deal Field Shaw (Shaw Grange) former landfill site in 
Charing. 
 
(2)  RESOLVED to endorse the site strategy outlined in paragraphs 4 to 11 of the 
report. 
 
7. Enforcement strategy at Four Gun Field, Otterham Quay Lane, Upchurch  
(Item 10) 
 
(1)  The Head of Planning Applications Group reported on the latest enforcement 
strategy concerning the Four Gun Field site at Otterham Quay Lane, Upchurch.  
 
(2)  RESOLVED to endorse the enforcement strategy outlined in paragraphs 4 to 
10 of the report.  
 
8. Enforcement strategy for Blu-3 (UK) Ltd/ Construction Haulage Ltd, Unit 
10, Detling Airfield,  Detling  
(Item 11) 
 
(1)  The Head of Planning Applications Group reported the latest enforcement 
strategy concerning Blu-3 (UK) Ltd/ Construction Haulage Ltd, Unit 10, Detling 
Airfield, Detling. 
 
(2)  RESOLVED to endorse the enforcement strategy outlined in paragraphs 6 to 8 
of the report. 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee Member Panel held in the 
Wantsum Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 29 January 
2010. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr A H T Bowles, Mr S J G Koowaree and Mr R A Pascoe 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr D L Brazier and Mrs V J Dagger 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr C Wade (PROW Team Manager (definition)), Ms S Coventry 
(Public Rights Of Way Officer ( Definition )) and Mr A Tait (Democratic Services 
Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
1. Proposed diversion of Public Footpath SD284 at West Kingsdown  
(Item 3) 
 
(1)  A visit to the site at West Kingsdown had taken place prior to the meeting. It 
was attended by the Local Member, Mr D L Brazier, Mrs J Watchorn from West 
Kingsdown Parish Council and by Mr R Barry from the Ramblers Association.  
 
(2)  Mr D L Brazier was present for this item pursuant to Committee Procedure 
Rule 2.24 and spoke.  
 
(3)  Mrs J Watchorn from West Kingsdown Parish Council and Mr R Barry from the 
Ramblers Association addressed the Panel in opposition to the proposal.  Mr Barry 
presented a letter, photographs and maps in support of his presentation.  
 
(4)   Mr R Norman spoke in reply as the applicant and landowner.  
 
(5)   RESOLVED that:- 
 

(a) a further Order be made under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 
to divert part of Public Footpath SD284 at West Kingsdown and, if 
necessary, the Order be submitted to the Secretary of State for 
resolution; and  

 
(b) the Kent County Council Public Footpath SD284 (part) Public Path 

Diversion Order 2004 made in respect of this path be formally revoked.  
Carried Unanimously 

 
 
 
 

Page 5



 

2 

2. Proposed diversion of Public Footpaths MR350 (parts) at Plaxtol and 
MR392 at Shipbourne  
(Item 4) 
 
(1)  A visit to Public Footpath MR392 at Shipbourne had taken place prior to the 
meeting.  It was attended by the people identified as speakers in the paragraphs 
below and by some 8 other members of the public.  
 
(2)  Mrs V J Dagger was present for this item pursuant to Committee Procedure 
Rule 2.24 and spoke.  
 
(3)  The following speakers addressed the Panel:- 
 

(a) Mr D Whetton from the Ramblers Association (in support); 
(b) Mr A Bristow (in support); 
(c) Mr A Topiwala (in objection); 
(d) Mr R Bate (in opposition); 
(e) Mr T Sayer, the local Borough Councillor (in opposition); 
(f) Mr R Bate (in objection); 
(g) Mrs E Cohen from Shipbourne Parish Councillor (in opposition); 
(h) Mrs R Barnett in reply on behalf of the applicant and landowner. 
 
 

(4)  On being put to the vote, the recommendations of the Director of Environment 
and Waste were carried by 4 votes to 1. 
 
(5)  In agreeing the recommendations of the Director of Environment and Waste, 
the Panel added the rider that the height of the hedges would be taken into 
consideration within the limitations and conditions of the Order. 
 
(6)  RESOLVED that:- 
 

(a)   two Orders be made under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 to 
divert:- 

 
(i)       part of Public Footpath MR392 at Shipbourne on the grounds that 

it is expedient to divert this path in the interest of the landowner 
and/or occupier without prejudicing the public’s enjoyment; and 

 
(ii) part of Public Footpath MR350 at Plaxtol on the grounds that it is 

expedient to divert this path in the interest of the landowner 
and/or occupier without prejudicing the public’s enjoyment; 

 
(b) if necessary, the above Orders be submitted to the Secretary of State 

for resolution; and 
 

(c) in respect of Public Footpath MR392 at Shipbourne, the height of the 
hedges be taken into consideration within the limitations and conditions 
of the Order. 

 
 

 

Page 6



 

3 

 
  

 
 
 
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee Member Panel held in the 
Swale 1, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 19 February 2010. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr T Gates, Mr S J G Koowaree and Mr R A Pascoe 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr R Brookbank 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr C Wade (PROW Team Manager (definition)), Miss M McNeir 
(Public Rights Of Way Officer (Definition Team)) and Mr A Tait (Democratic Services 
Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
3. Application to register land at Chart Corner in the parish of Chart Sutton 
as a new Village Green  
(Item 4) 
 
(1)  Members of the Panel visited the application site at Chart Corner, Chart Sutton 
on the morning of the meeting. 
 
(2)  RESOLVED to inform the applicants that the application to register the land at 
Chart Corner in the parish of Chart Sutton has been accepted insofar as it relates to 
land owned by the Parish Council, and that the land shown hatched at Appendix D of 
the report be formally registered as a Village Green.  
 
4. Application to register land at King George Playing Fields, Hawkhurst as a 
new Village Green.  
(Item 3) 
 
(1)  Members of the Panel visited the site at King George Playing Fields, 
Hawkhurst on the morning of the meeting.  The visit was attended by Mr B 
Fitzpatrick, Mrs B Weedon and Mr A McTrusty (Members and Clerk to Hawkhurst 
Parish Council). 
 
(2)   Correspondence dated 14 February 2010 from “Campaign for Planning 
Sanity” on behalf of the applicants had previously been circulated to all Members of 
the Panel.   
 
(3)  Further correspondence from Mr C Maile of “Campaign for Planning Sanity” 
dated 19 February 2010 was tabled.  This explained that he and the applicants were 
declining the opportunity to speak to the Committee and also summarised their 
concerns in respect of the report by the Director of Environment and Waste.  
 
(4)  The Panel expressed its regret that the applicants had refused to attend and 
asked the Chairman to write on their behalf to their representative. 
 

Page 9



 

(5)  Mr A McTrusty (Clerk to Hawkhurst PC), Mr R Harding (Chairman of 
Hawkhurst PC), Mr B Cova (Hawkhurst Community Partnership) and Mr R Weedon 
(Tunbridge Wells BC) addressed the Committee in opposition to the application.  
 
(6)  The Chairman moved the motion set out in (7) below which was carried 
unanimously. 
 
(7)  RESOLVED that the Director of Environment and Waste be requested to 

expedite enquiries into the landownership and other issues raised and that the 
Panel reconvene at the earliest opportunity (preferably with the same 
Membership).  

 
 

Page 10



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee Member Panel held in the 
Pendragon, Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 19 March 2010. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr T Gates, Mr S J G Koowaree and Mr R A Pascoe 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr C Wade (PROW Team Manager (definition)), Mr M Garvey, 
Ms M McLaughlin and Mr A Tait (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
5. Application to divert part of Public Footpath MT114 at Hadlow College, 
Hadlow  
(Item 3) 
 
(1)  Members of the Panel visited the site at Hadlow College, Hadlow before the 
meeting.  
 
(2)  Mr D Wetton from the Ramblers’ Association addressed the Panel in 
opposition to the application. Ms K Lidington from dha Planning spoke in reply on 
behalf of the applicants.  
 
(3)  RESOLVED to refuse the application to make an order under Section 119 of 

the Highways Act 1980 to divert Public Footpath MT114 because the 
proposed diversion would be substantially less convenient to the public and 
would have a negative impact on public enjoyment of the path as a whole.   

 
 
6. Application to divert Public Bridleway MR108 (Parts) at Ditton and at East 
Malling and Larkfield  
(Item 4) 
 
(1)  Members of the Panel visited the site of the proposed diversion before the 
meeting.   
 
(2)  Mr N Ward from the Ramblers’ Association addressed the Panel in opposition 
to the proposed diversion. Mr T La Dell from Tom La Dell Landscape Artists spoke in 
reply on behalf of the applicants. 
 
(3)  RESOLVED to make two Orders under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 
(and, if necessary submit these Orders to the Secretary of State for resolution) to 
divert:- 
 

(a) part of Public Bridleway MR108 at Ditton on the grounds that it is 
expedient to divert the path in the interest of the landowner and 
occupier for as long as the current route is retained at footpath status; 
and  

Page 11



 

 
(b) part of Public Bridleway MR108 at East Malling and Larkfield on the 

grounds that it is expedient to divert the path in the interest of the 
landowner and the public.  

 
 
 
 

Page 12



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Regulation Committee Member Panel held in the 
Medway Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 27 April 2010. 
 
PRESENT: Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr A D Crowther (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr T Gates, Mr S J G Koowaree and Mr R A Pascoe 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr R Brookbank, Mr R F Manning and Mrs E M Tweed 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr C Wade (PROW Team Manager (definition)), Miss M McNeir 
(Public Rights Of Way Officer (Definition Team)), Mrs A Khroud (Solicitor) and 
Mr A Tait (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
7. Application to register land at Beecholme Drive, Bybrook as a new Village 
Green  
(Item 3) 
 
(1)  Mr S J G Koowaree explained that he was a Member of Ashford Borough 
Council.  He had, however, taken no part in any decision taken by the Borough 
Council and was therefore able to approach this application with an open mind.  
 
(2)  The PROW Team Manager (definition) introduced the report in detail and 
explained the grounds for the recommendations set out in paragraph 33 of the report.  
 
(3)  Mrs S Smith from Ashford Borough Council spoke in opposition to the 
application.  She said that the Borough Council did not accept the need for it to be 
able to demonstrate formal appropriation of the land and that the public was in fact 
using this land “by right” rather than “as of right”.   The Borough Council could also 
not agree with the Inspector’s conclusion that it should have ring-fenced each 
separate rental income, as this would have been impractical.  In addition, the 
Borough Council could not accept the Inspector’s definition of the claimed 
neighbourhood as a cohesive area.  
 
(4)  In response to Mrs Smith, the PROW Team Manager (definition) said that 
these points, previously put in writing by Mrs Smith, had been put to the Inspector.  
She had commented that these points had already been considered by her in making 
her recommendation and that she saw no reason to change the conclusions that she 
had reached.  
 
(5)  Mrs E M Tweed was present for this item pursuant to Committee Procedure 
2.24 and spoke in favour of the application.  She said that she was aware that the 
land had been used for a twenty year period and that the reasons for low attendance 
at the non-statutory public inquiry were that it had been held in very cold weather on 
one day in February, making it difficult for people to attend. In addition, a fair 
proportion of the local residents had moved into the area within the twenty year 

Page 13



 

period and were therefore not in a position to affirm that they themselves had used 
the land for lawful sports and pastimes for the entire period.  
 
(6)  Mr R A Pascoe moved, seconded by Mr A D Crowther that the recommendations 
set out in the report be adopted. 
      Carried Unanimously. 
 
(7) RESOLVED that for the reasons stated in the Inspector’s report dated 25 

February 2010, the applicant be informed that the application to register the 
land at Bybrook Road, Kennington has been accepted and that the land 
subject to the application be formally registered as a Village Green. 

 
 
8. Application to register land known as King George Playing Field at 
Hawkhurst as a new Village Green  
(Item 4) 
 
(1)  The Public Rights of Way Officer introduced the report and the grounds for the 
recommendation in detail.  In particular, she explained the advice from Counsel that 
the land was held by the Parish Council on a valid Charitable Trust and that the effect 
of the terms of the deed meant that the use of the land by the public had been “by 
right” rather than “as of right.”  
 
(2)  Mr C Maile from Planning Sanity spoke on behalf of the applicants.  During his 
presentation, the Chairman in accordance with the “Conduct of Debate” provisions 
set out in the Constitution warned Mr Maile that he was committing a breach of order 
and that he should desist.  
 
(3)  Mr Maile made numerous points during his presentation.  The main points are 
summarised below together with the response from the Public Rights of Way Officer:- 
 

(a) The issues raised by the application were of such a degree of 
complexity that they needed to be aired at a non-statutory public inquiry.  The 
Public Rights of Way Officer replied that the purpose of such inquiries was to 
establish matters of fact.  In this instance, the facts were clearly established.   
The Legal Services Officer referred to correspondence she had held with 
DEFRA in which the latter had given its view that there would be no purpose in 
holding an inquiry once it had been established that the use of the land was by 
right.  

 
(b)  The judgement given in the Oxfordshire case demonstrated that 
Authorities were not exempt from having land registered. Even Crown land 
could be so registered. The Public Rights of Way Officer replied that this was 
correct. The question was the manner in which the land was owned. Each 
case had to be assessed on its individual merit.    
 
(c)  The Commons Act 2006 enabled landowners to register their own land.   
It would be a strange law indeed if the same facility did not apply to a third 
party.  The Public Rights of Way Officer replied that this was a new provision 
which enabled voluntary registration. This did not apply in this instance where 
registration was founded on the English law of prescription.  
 

Page 14



 

(d)  Section 15 (7) (b) of the Commons Act 2006 enabled the twenty year 
qualifying period to commence at any point before the use of the land had 
become by right. Even if the view of Counsel that this had occurred in 1935 
was accepted, it would still be possible to register on the basis of the situation 
which pertained between the years 1915 and 1935. The Public Rights of Way 
Officer replied that no evidence had been presented to the Registration 
Authority to indicate whether the land had been used during that period or any 
twenty year period prior to that.   
 
(e)  Who actually controlled the land – the Parish Council or the Charity 
Commission?  If, as was stated by the Parish Council, the Parish Council was 
acting as the sole trustee, then there were two named individuals on the 
Charity Commission’s website who were not Members of the Parish Council. 
With the permission of the Chairman, the Clerk to Hawkhurst Parish Council 
explained that this was an error which would be corrected when he next 
communicated with the Charity Commission.  The purpose of naming 
individuals on that particular website was to enable the public to identify the 
actual Members of Hawkhurst Parish Council, which was indeed the sole 
trustee.    
 
(f)  The Parish Council rented the land to various clubs for the purposes of 
playing collective sports. Once they had done this, the land ceased to be 
public and the Trust argument ceased to be valid.  With the permission of the 
Chairman, the Clerk to Hawkhurst Parish Council replied that it was true that 
the football club was charged for the provision of changing facilities and for 
maintenance of the football pitch.  All monies generated in this way were spent 
on the Charity and could not be spent anywhere else in the Parish.   It was 
recognised that people could in theory walk across the football pitch during a 
game.  
 

(4)  After Mr Maile had completed his remarks, the legal Services Officer stated 
that she had heard nothing to suggest to her that the recommendations in the report 
were unsafe.  In her opinion, all the facts of the case clearly demonstrated that the 
land was in use by right and not as of right.  
 
(5)  Mr R Harding (Chairman of Hawkhurst Parish Council), Mr B Cova (Hawkhurst 
Community Partnership) and Mr A McTrusty (Clerk to Hawkhurst Parish Council) 
addressed the meeting in opposition to the application.  They expressed satisfaction 
with the recommendations in the report. 
 
(6)  Mr R F Manning was present for this item pursuant to Committee Procedure 
Rule 2.24 and spoke.  He informed the Panel that he had been asked to become 
involved from the outset and had soon become aware of the complex nature of the 
case.  He was impressed by the conclusions of Counsel and had nothing further to 
add.   
 
(7)  Mr R A Pascoe moved, seconded by Mr A D Crowther that the 
recommendations set out in paragraph 31 of the report be agreed.  
      Carried Unanimously 
 
(8) RESOLVED that the advice from Counsel be endorsed and that the applicant 

be informed that the application to register the land known as King George 

Page 15



 

Playing Field at Hawkhurst as a new Town or Village Green has not been 
accepted.  

 
 
 

Page 16



Update from the Commons Registration Team
_________________________________________________________________________

A report by the Director of Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s Regulation 
Committee on Tuesday 18th May 2010. 

Recommendation:

I recommend that Members receive this report for information 
___________________________________________________________________________

Progress with Village Green applications 

1. Members have requested that a summary of the current position of applications to register 
Town and Village Greens be provided at meetings of the Regulation Committee. A copy of 

the Schedule of Village Green applications is therefore attached at Appendix A.

2. The number of Village Green applications received by the County Council for 
consideration continues to increase year on year. In 2005, the County Council received 
just 5 applications but today the County Council receives on average one new application 
every month. 

3. There are currently 25 applications outstanding, of which 13 are under investigation. Three 
Public Inquiries have already been held this year into applications at Ramsgate, Ashford 
and Gravesend. The Inspector’s recommendation has been received and endorsed by 
Members in respect of the Ashford case, but recommendations in respect of the other two 
cases are still awaited. 

4. There is currently a waiting time of approximately six months before we are able to begin 
working on an application. This is due not only to the increasing volume of applications 
received, but also to the fact that applications to register land as a new Village Green are 
by their nature very complex and time-consuming to resolve. Unlike Public Rights of Way 
cases where there are appeal mechanisms via the Planning Inspectorate or the Secretary 
of State, the only means of appeal against the County Council’s decision in relation to a 
Village Green application is by way of a Judicial Review action in the High Court. 
Additionally, Village Green applications are often extremely emotive locally, particularly 
where planning issues are involved.  Members have agreed these cases are dealt with 
strictly in order of receipt unless extenuating circumstances dictate that certain cases 
should be accelerated. 

Case Law update 

5. The Supreme Court has recently issued an important decision which will have a significant 
impact on the manner in which certain cases are dealt with. It is the fifth time in a decade 
that a Village Green issue has been before the highest court in the land. The case decided 
by the Supreme Court was R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council (2010) and 
it was concerned with an application to register land that had been used for part of the 
relevant period as a municipal golf course. The case considered the interaction between 
the golfers and the users, and the consequent impact on whether informal recreational use 
could be considered to have been ‘as of right’. 

6. Prior to the Supreme Court’s judgement, it had always been considered that it was not 
possible for local residents to show use ‘as of right’ for the required twenty year period 
where there had been an acceptance that at certain times and on certain occasions they

Agenda Item 5

Page 17



would defer to use of the land by others. For example, during the taking of a hay crop by a 
landowner or whist organised sports were being played.  This was known as the 
‘deference principle’. 

7. The Supreme Court has now held that deference does not preclude the acquisition of user 
as of right.  In essence, the Supreme Court took the view that it was immaterial that there 
may have been use of the land both by the landowner and by local people since 
registration of the land as a new green would not prejudice the landowner in his continuing 
use of the land. It appears to have been recognised by the Supreme Court that although 
locals would have acquired rights upon the registration of the land as a Green, it would not 
take away the right of the landowner to continue using the land in the same manner that 
he had during the twenty year qualifying period.  There was give and take then and that 
principle of give and take should continue in the future.

8. The practical implications of this decision are far reaching. There are many sports grounds 
and areas of farmland on the urban fringe where it has not been financially practical to 
exclude local people from using the land when it is not in use by the landowner. School 
Playing Fields are often used by dog walkers and children out of school hours.  
Landowners who have ambitions for the future development of their land must now be 
sure to have taken active steps to keep local people off of such land in order to prevent 
registration of the land as a new town or village green. 

Commons Act 2006 – Pilot Project 

9. Since the last report given to the Regulation Committee at its January meeting, the County 
Council has continued to comply with the requirements of the Project and is currently 
adhering to a timetable given to all Pilot Authorities by DEFRA. This is primarily to ensure 
that the required review of the Registers of Common Land and Village Greens is 
undertaken in line with Regulations accompanying the Commons Act 2006. The aim of this 
particular aspect of the Pilot is to ensure that the Registers accurately reflect applications 
that were made under the Commons Registration Act 1965 in the early 1970’s.

10. In addition, checks are being undertaken to establish whether recorded Greens or 
Commons have been encroached or built upon either by way of encroachment by 
neighbouring properties or by road schemes or other similar types of development.  
Computer software and the County Council’s Geographical Information Systems (G.I.S.) 
are greatly assisting this exercise. This exercise is virtually complete and the next step in 
the process is for the County Council to initiate requisite formal ‘proposals’ in order to 
remedy the identified issues. 

8th National Seminar - Common Land and Town and Village Greens 

11. The University of Gloucestershire has organised its 8th National Seminar on Common 
Land and Town and Village Greens. The focus of the Seminar will be on best practise to 
actively protect and manage common land and town and village greens.  The County 
Council has been invited to address the Seminar on the best practise methods it has 
developed for implementing the requirements of the Commons Act 2006 in its role as a 
Pilot Authority. 

Recommendation

12. I RECOMMEND Members receive this report for information. 

Page 18



Background documents: 
Appendix A – Schedule of Village Green applications 

Contact Officer: 
Chris Wade
Public Rights of Way Principal Case Officer 
Tel: 01622 221511 

Page 19



Applications resolved by the Regulation Committee since last report 
(26th January 2010) 

Description Parish Member(s) Outcome
Land at Chart Corner Chart Sutton Mr. E. Hotson ACCEPTED and registered 

as VG246 on 19/02/2010 

King George Playing Field Hawkhurst Mr. R. Manning REJECTED on 27/04/2010 

Land at Beecholme Drive, 
Bybrook 

Ashford Mrs. E. Tweed ACCEPTED and registered 
as VG247 on 27/04/2010 

Forthcoming Public Inquiries 

Description Parish Member(s) Details
none

Outstanding applications to be resolved 

Description Parish Member(s) Status 
Round Wood at 
Walderslade 

Boxley Mr. P. Carter On hold at applicant’s request 

Barton Playing Field Canterbury Mr. M. Northey Awaiting legal submissions 
following Public Inquiry 

The Old Bowling Green at 
Montefiore Avenue 

Ramsgate Mr. B. Hayton 
Mr. R. Bayford 

Awaiting Inspector’s report 
following Public Inquiry 

Broadstairs Cricket 
Ground 

Broadstairs Mr. B. Hayton 
Mr. R. Bayford 

Under investigation 

St Andrew’s Gardens Gravesend Mr. B. Sweetland 
Mr. J. Cubitt 

Awaiting Inspector’s report 
following Public Inquiry 

Brickfields, off Mill Lane Bridge Mr. M. Northey Take to Member Panel on 
25/05/2010 

Land at Dumpton Park 
Drive 

Broadstairs Mr. B. Hayton 
Mr. R. Bayford 

Take to Member Panel on 
25/05/2010 

Ryarsh Recreation Ground Ryarsh Mrs. S. Hohler Under investigation 

The Glen Minster-on-
Sea

Mr. A. Crowther Under investigation 

Land adjacent to Barnes 
Car Park 

Margate Mr. R. Burgess Under investigation 

Land at Sherwood Lake Tunbridge 
Wells 

Mr. K. Lynes Under investigation 

Brittains Common Sevenoaks Mr. J. London Under investigation 

The Downs Herne Bay Mrs. J. Law Under investigation 

Former Council Offices site Cranbrook Mr. R. Manning Under investigation 

The Allotment Field, 
Barton Estate 

Canterbury Mr. M. Northey Awaiting investigation 

Grasmere Pastures Whitstable Mr. M. Harrison 
Mr. M. Dance 

Awaiting investigation 

Land at High Street Chiddingstone Mr. P. Lake Awaiting investigation 

Benacre Wood Whitstable Mr. M. Harrison 
Mr. M. Dance 

Awaiting investigation 

APPENDIX A: 

Schedule of Village Green applications 

Page 20



Land at Preston Parade Hythe Mr. C. Capon Awaiting investigation 

Land at Hartley Woods Hartley Mr. D. Brazier Awaiting investigation 

Land known as Long Field 
at Angley Road 

Cranbrook Mr. R. Manning Awaiting investigation 

Dawbourne Wood Tenterden Mr. M. Hill Awaiting investigation 

Gighill Green Larkfield Mrs. T. Dean Awaiting Investigation 

Land at Westwell Lane Westwell Mr. R. King Awaiting Investigation 

Land at Mill Lane Preston Mr. L. Ridings Awaiting Investigation 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



  

From:   Chris Wade (Public Rights of Way Principal Case Officer) 
 
To:    Regulation Committee – 18 May 2010 
 
Subject:                   Town and Country Planning Act 1990 – Public Rights of Way Diversion and 

Extinguishment Orders: Service Level Agreement with Ashford Borough 
Council 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary: To seek authority to enter into a Service Level Agreement with Ashford 

Borough Council in order to undertake all Town and Country Planning 
Act Orders on it’s behalf. 

 
FOR DECISION 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Introduction 
 

1. Sections 257 and 258 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 enable the making 
of Orders to divert and extinguish Public Rights of Way in order to enable development 
to take place.  

 
Procedure 
 

2. The responsibility for making such Orders rests with the Planning Authority 
responsible for granting planning permission. Applicants who have received detailed 
or, on occasions, outline planning consent, must therefore apply to that Planning 
Authority for such an Order. Therefore, if planning consent is granted, not by the 
County Council but by one of the twelve District Councils within this County, then it is 
that specific Council that has to make the Order. 

 
Background 
 

3. Several District Councils, have in the past, mentioned to the County Council that they 
do not have the staff with the ability or expertise to undertake these Orders; accepting 
that those abilities rest with County Council staff. In consequence, difficulties have 
arisen and advice often sought from the County Council’s staff to overcome them. This 
has been time-consuming for County Council staff and diverted resources away from 
resolving County Council issues. 

 
4. One such Authority where difficulties have arisen in the past is Ashford Borough 

Council. It has recently undertaken a consultation exercise into this area of work and 
independent consultants recommended that Ashford approach the County Council 
with a view to the more experienced County Council staff undertaking this work on its 
behalf. 

 
Service Level Agreement  
 

5. Discussion has taken place with Officers from Ashford Borough Council and after 
careful consideration it has been agreed that staff within the County Council’s Public 
Rights of Way Team could undertake the making of Town and Country Planning Act 
Orders on its behalf with little impact upon current applications.  One existing member 
of staff will be given responsibility for processing these Orders in addition to current 

Agenda Item 6

Page 23



  

duties and carrying out the necessary liaison with the Borough Council and will be 
assisted by another part time member of the team where necessary.  

 
6. The County Council would liaise directly with Developers and Landowners in respect 

of the costs incurred in making this type of Order. The County Council is able to 
recover its full costs of making these Orders and would set its own appropriate fees to 
generate income. 

 
7. In addition, one other major benefit is that the County Council will be able to deal with 

Landowners and Developers at the early stages of the Planning process which 
hopefully will go a long way in overcoming some of the problems that new 
Development has caused to the Public Rights of Way network and a reduction in the 
resources that have had to be expended by the County Council in order to overcome 
such issues. 

 
8. It has been recognised, however, that it would be important for a Service Level 

Agreement to be drawn up which would clearly set out the roles, responsibilities and 
the conditions which would apply to both Authorities in this respect. 

 
9. Lawyers from both Authorities have therefore drawn up a suitable Service Level 

Agreement a copy of which is attached at Appendix A. 
 
Recommendation 
 

10. I recommend that the County Council enter into a Service Level Agreement with the 
Ashford Borough Council in order to undertake, on its behalf, the making of all Orders 
under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
 
Background Documents: 
Appendix A – Copy of a Draft Service Level Agreement between Kent County Council and 
Ashford Borough Council. 
 
Contact Officer:  
Mr. Chris Wade  
Public Rights of Way Principal Case Officer 
Countryside Access Service 
Tel: 01622 22151 

Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



To:  Regulation Committee – For information and decision 
 Portfolio Holder for Highways, Environment and Waste - For information 
    
By:  Director of Highways Environment and Waste to Kent County Council’s 

Regulation Committee – 18 May 2010 
 
Subject:  Update on the Definitive Map Team Casework Schedules, clarification of 

Regulation Committee Terms of Reference and the County Council’s 
approach to Orders made at the direction of the Secretary of State. 

 
Classification: Unrestricted                                District: All 

 
Summary 
 
A report updating the Regulation Committee on the Definitive Map Team casework 
schedules; clarifying the interpretation of the Regulation Committees terms of 
reference and the County Council’s approach to orders made at the direction of the 
Secretary of State. 
 

 
Background 
 
Registers of Cases 
 
1.1 At the Regulation Committee on 27 January 2009 an update on the schedule of 
outstanding Village Greens and public rights of way (PROW) cases was requested. A 
Schedule of such cases to be included in the agenda papers for future meetings.  
 
1.2 A had copy of the Register of Applications to amend the Definitive Map and 
Statement and Register of Diversion Applications has been circulated with this report. 
The registers are also available on line at  
 
https://shareweb.kent.gov.uk/Documents/environment-and-planning/public-rights-of-
way/claims%20(website).pdf  
 
and 
 
https://shareweb.kent.gov.uk/Documents/environment-and-planning/public-rights-of-
way/diversion-schedule-for-web.pdf 
 
2.1 The production of a register of applications to amend the Definitive Map and 
Statement was a requirement of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.  The 
registers are regularly updated to reflect progress with case load. 
 
2.2 There has been substantial progress made in recent years and the backlogs 
that previously existed have been reduced considerably. There is now an average 
wait of less than 18 months between receipt of application to amend the Definitive 
Map and Statement and the case being allocated to an officer. The nature of 
applications is extremely varied; more complex applications may take years to 
resolve, others months. 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 31



2.3 The likelihood is however that backlogs will grow in coming years as a result of 
a number of factors: 
 

i) The introduction of a cut off date after which it will not be possible to seek 
to amend the Definitive Map and Statement based purely on pre 1949 
historic evidence. Currently this date is set at 1st January 2026, though the 
implementation of the date is currently suspended. It is anticipated that this 
will bring about a surge in applications. 

 
ii) The production of a new edition of the Definitive Map and Statement will 

demand a significant time input from the team unavoidably at the expense 
of case work. 

 
iii) The implementation of the Marine and Coastal Act 2009 creating a 

continuous right of access around the coast of England. 
 

iv) Additionally an upturn in the economy is likely to trigger additional case 
work in respect of development sites.  

 
v) It is also likely that Government will wish to revisit the introduction of a right 

to apply to divert PROW for agricultural landowners. In Kent such 
applications have always been considered. However, if introduced it will 
necessitate changes to existing procedures. 

 
Terms of reference 
 
3. The Constitution of the County Council sets out the terms of reference of the 
Regulation Committee in respect of Public Rights of Way in the following way: 
 
“The Committee also considers: …….. 
 

(c) the creation, stopping up, diversion of any footpath or bridleway or the 
reclassification of any public path where substantive objection has been 
raised or a political party or the local Member requests” ……………… 

 
 (The Council agreed on 20 September 2001 that functions (a)-(c) could be 

delegated to sub-committees) …….. 
 
3.1 The Terms of Reference of the Committee require amendment to reflect that 
their powers are also exercisable in terms of Restricted Byways. I have requested 
that the Constitution of the County Council be amended to reflect this legislative 
change. 
 
3.2 There is a need for clarification of the precise interpretation to be given to the 
words “reclassification “ and “substantive” to ensure consistency in the application of 
the County Council’s functions and the interpretation by external parties of how policy 
is applied. Members are therefore requested to approve the following definitions to 
be applied to the work of the Regulation Committee in respect of public path orders 
and definitive map modification orders: 

 
i) “Reclassification” is to be interpreted as including any application made to 

modify the Definitive Map and Statement. Referral to the Regulation 

Page 32



Committee of applications to amend the Definitive Map and Statement is at 
the request of a political party or local member and prior to the making of 
any order.  Once made such orders must be referred to the Secretary of 
State should objection be received and not withdrawn.  

 
ii) Substantive is to be interpreted in respect of the Regulation Committee 

terms of reference as referring to objections that meet the requirements of 
the legislation and are relevant to the circumstances of the order. 

 
Approach to Orders made at the direction of the Secretary of State. 
 
4.1 The County Council is occasionally directed to make orders to amend the 
Definitive Map and Statement by the Secretary of State following appeal against an 
earlier decision of the authority. Where objections are received to such orders they 
stand referred back to the Secretary of State for determination. This is usually 
through written representations, public local hearing or public inquiry.  
 
4.2 Traditionally the County Council has taken a neutral stance in the case of such 
orders. This is an acceptable position to take and DEFRA have provided guidance for 
authorities wishing to do so. There is however no policy statement to support such a 
position. I would therefore recommend that the following is adopted as policy. 
 
4.3 “In cases where the County Council has been directed by the Secretary of State 
to make an order to amend the Definitive Map and Statement it shall remain neutral 
in further proceedings unless delegated power to take a different position is 
specifically sought and secured by the relevant officer”.   
 
Recommendations 
 
5. I recommend that:  
  

(a)  progress in reducing the backlog of outstanding definition cases is noted 
along with the likelihood that the backlogs will grow in future years. 

 
 (b)  the precise interpretation to be given to the interpretation of  the words 

“reclassification” and “substantive” in the Regulation Committee’s terms of 
reference are accepted.  

 
(c)   the County Council take a neutral stance in respect of orders it is directed 

to make by the Secretary of State unless delegated power is specifically 
sought and secured by the relevant officer.  

 
 
Contact Officer 
Graham Rusling  
PROW Service Delivery Manager 
01622 696995 
graham.rusling@kent.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



S
e
ri

a
l

N
o

.
A

re
a

L
o

c
a
ti

o
n

O
S

 G
r
id

 

R
e
fe

r
e
n

c
e

P
a
th

N
u

m
b

e
r

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

S
ta

tu
s
 C

la
im

e
d

F
il
e
 R

e
f

D
a
te

A
c
c
e

p
te

d
C

u
rr

e
n

t 
P

o
s
it

io
n

C
a
s
e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

F
in

a
l

O
u

tc
o

m
e

1
6
5

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
, 
C

a
rl
to

n
 R

o
a
d

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
1
6
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

1
6
6

E
a
s
t

F
o
lk

e
s
to

n
e

T
R

 2
0
3
1
 3

6
4
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
G

re
e
n
 W

a
lk

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
1
6
5

1
1
/0

3
/1

9
9
8

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

a
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

1
7
1
A

W
e
s
t

B
a
y
h
a
m

A
b
b
e
y

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 a
t 
B

a
y
h
a
m

 

A
b
b
e
y

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
W

/C
1
7
1
A

0
3
/0

9
/1

9
9
8

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d
, 
c
a
s
e
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 t
o
 

S
e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 
S

ta
te

 -

P
u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 t
o
 

b
e
 h

e
ld

C
h
ri
s

W
a
d
e
/M

e
la

n
ie

M
c
N

e
ir

1
7
4

W
e
s
t

S
p
e
ld

h
u
rs

t
T

Q
 5

5
8
0
 4

2
1
5

W
T

6
5

C
la

im
e
d
 a

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
t 
to

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 

W
T

6
5

P
R

O
W

/T
W

/C
1
7
4

2
1
/0

1
/1

9
9
9

A
t 
A

p
p
e
a
l 
- 

C
a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
O

ff
ic

e
 

fo
r 

th
e
 N

o
rt

h
 E

a
s
t

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
8
4

E
a
s
t

C
h
ilh

a
m

 &
 

C
h
a
rt

h
a
m

T
R

 0
8
5
4
 5

3
9
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
M

ill
 L

a
n
e
 t
o
 

T
h
ru

x
te

d
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

 &
 

C
C

/C
1
8
4

0
9
/0

3
/2

0
0
0

O
rd

e
rs

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

F
o
o
tp

a
th

s

re
c
o
rd

e
d

1
9
5

E
a
s
t

B
e
th

e
rs

d
e
n

T
Q

 9
2
0
0
 4

0
3
8
, 

T
Q

 9
1
9
7
 4

0
5
9
, 

T
Q

 9
2
1
9
 4

0
5
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
W

is
s
e
n
d
e
n
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 A

W
2
5
8
 &

 A
W

2
5
7

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
1
9
5

2
2
/0

2
/2

0
0
1

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
0
3

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 0
4
6
9
 6

4
8
4
 

to
 T

R
 0

6
2
2
 

6
4
7
8

C
la

im
e
d
 d

e
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

C
W

5
7

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
0
3

0
1
/0

8
/2

0
0
1

A
t 
A

p
p
e
a
l 
- 

C
a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
O

ff
ic

e
 

fo
r 

th
e
 N

o
rt

h
 E

a
s
t

C
h
ri
s

W
a
d
e
/M

a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

2
0
5

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
6
 6

6
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
N

e
ls

o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

to
 S

h
a
ft
s
b
u
ry

 R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
0
5

0
1
/1

1
/2

0
0
1

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
, 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d
, 
c
a
s
e
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 t
o
 

S
e
c
re

a
tr

y
 o

f 
S

ta
te

 -

P
u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 t
o
 

b
e
 h

e
ld

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

F
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

le
a
s
e
 c

a
ll 

0
1
6
2
2
 2

2
1
5
6
8

R
e
g

is
te

r 
o

f 
A

p
p

li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 u

n
d

e
r 

S
e
c
ti

o
n

 5
3
(5

) 
o

f 
th

e
 W

il
d

li
fe

 a
n

d
 C

o
u

n
tr

y
s
id

e
 A

c
t 

1
9
8
1

Page 35



2
0
7

E
a
s
t

M
a
rg

a
te

T
R

 3
3
7
 6

9
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
B

ro
o
k
e
 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 t
o
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 T

M
2
2

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
2
0
7

1
6
/1

1
/2

0
0
1

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
0
8

E
a
s
t

D
u
n
k
ir
k

T
R

 0
8
5
 5

8
9

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
, 
 A

2
 t
o
 

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y
 Z

R
5
2
9

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
0
8

2
2
/0

1
/2

0
0
2

C
a
s
e
 w

it
h
d
ra

w
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
0
9

W
e
s
t

B
o
ro

u
g
h

G
re

e
n

T
Q

 6
1
5
6
 &

 T
Q

 

6
1
5
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

ro
u
c
h
 L

a
n
e
 

to
 r

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 g

ro
u
n
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
0
9

1
1
/0

3
/2

0
0
2

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
A

p
p
e
a
l

re
je

c
te

d

2
1
2

W
e
s
t

E
d
e
n
b
ri
d
g
e

T
Q

 4
3
9
2
 4

6
3
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

ro
u
c
h
 H

o
u
s
e
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 S

p
ri
n
g
fi
e
ld

 R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
1
2

2
6
/0

4
/2

0
0
2

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
F

o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

2
1
4

W
e
s
t

R
y
a
rs

h
 t
o
 

B
ir
lin

g
T

Q
 6

5
9
0
 6

1
4
4

M
R

1
4
5
 &

 

M
R

6
0
A

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 

M
R

1
4
5
 a

n
d
 R

U
P

P
 M

R
6
0
A

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
1
4

3
1
/1

0
/2

0
0
2

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

je
c
te

d
M

e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
1
7

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 5
0
7
0
 5

7
1
5

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
P

e
a
n
 H

ill
 t
o
 

F
o
x
e
s
 C

ro
s
s
 R

o
a
d

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
1
7

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
2

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
2
2

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
2
7
 6

5
8

C
W

3
8

C
la

im
e
d
 d

o
w

n
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
p
a
rt

 o
f 

C
W

3
8

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
2
2

2
8
/0

3
/2

0
0
3

A
t 
A

p
p
e
a
l 
- 

C
a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
O

ff
ic

e
 

fo
r 

th
e
 N

o
rt

h
 E

a
s
t

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

2
2
4

W
e
s
t

H
e
a
d
c
o
rn

T
Q

 8
3
4
 4

4
3

K
H

2
6
4

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
K

H
6
2
4

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
2
4

1
4
/0

4
/2

0
0
3

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
2
5

W
e
s
t

S
n
o
d
la

n
d

T
Q

 6
8
5
5
 6

2
1
5

M
R

5
9
4

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
P

ilg
ri
m

s
 W

a
y
 t
o
 

P
a
d
d
le

s
w

o
rt

h
 R

o
a
d

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
2
5

0
1
/0

5
/2

0
0
3

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
2
6

W
e
s
t

E
d
e
n
b
ri
d
g
e

T
Q

 4
4
6
0
 4

6
5
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
E

d
e
n
b
ri
d
g
e
 

T
o
w

n
 S

ta
ti
o
n
 t
o
 R

a
ilw

a
y
 

C
o
tt
a
g
e
s

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
2
6

0
6
/0

8
/2

0
0
3

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

N
o
ti
c
e
s

s
e
rv

e
d

in
c
o
rr

e
c
tl
y
 a

t 

A
p
p
e
a
l

2
2
7

W
e
s
t

B
re

d
g
a
r

T
Q

 8
6
4
 6

0
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
D

e
a
n
s
 B

o
tt
o
m

 

F
a
rm

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
2
7

0
6
/0

8
/2

0
0
3

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

2
2
8

E
a
s
t

D
o
v
e
r

T
R

 3
6
7
7
 5

0
9
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

e
le

g
ra

p
h
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 C

o
w

d
ry

 S
q
u
a
re

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
2
8

2
8
/0

7
/2

0
0
3

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
C

a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
0

E
a
s
t

O
s
p
ri
n
g
e

T
Q

 9
9
5
 5

8
7
 

Z
R

3
5
9

C
la

im
e
d
 a

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

Z
R

3
5
9

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
3
0

2
7
/1

0
/2

0
0
3

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
2

W
e
s
t

H
a
rt

lip
T

Q
 8

4
2
0
 6

4
9
5

Z
R

6
8
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
M

ill
 L

a
n
e
 t
o
 

L
o
w

e
r 

H
a
rt

lip
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
3
2

1
6
/1

0
/2

0
0
3

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

2
3
3

E
a
s
t

L
o
w

e
r 

H
a
ls

to
w

T
Q

 8
6
1
0
 6

7
1
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
W

e
s
tm

o
re

la
n
d
 

D
ri
v
e
 t
o
 C

u
m

b
e
rl
a
n
d
 D

ri
v
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
3
3

1
1
/1

1
/2

0
0
3

D
e
e
d
 o

f 

D
e
d
ic

a
ti
o
n
 -

 

c
o
m

p
le

te

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
F

o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

2
3
4

W
e
s
t

H
a
rt

le
y

T
Q

 6
1
0
3
 6

8
4
2

S
D

3
3
4

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

a
x
to

n
 R

o
a
d
 

to
 G

o
rs

e
w

o
o
d
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
3
4

1
5
/1

2
/2

0
0
3

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

2
3
5

E
a
s
t

H
a
rt

lip
T

Q
 v

a
ri
o
u
s

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
, 
lo

ts
 1

-1
4

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
3
5

0
9
/1

2
/2

0
0
3

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
D

e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

Page 36



2
3
6

W
e
s
t

L
u
d
d
e
s
d
o
w

n
T

Q
 6

7
7
 6

6
8
 t
o
 

T
Q

 6
7
8
 6

6
7

N
S

2
4
3

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
R

U
P

P
 N

S
2
4
3

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/G
R

/C
2
3
6

2
3
/0

2
/2

0
0
4

A
p
p
e
a
l 
d
is

m
is

s
e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
3
8

W
e
s
t

D
u
n
to

n
 G

re
e
n

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
fr

o
m

 

u
n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
 o

p
p
o
s
it
e
 D

u
n
to

n
 

G
re

e
n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 
to

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 S
R

1
0
5

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
3
8

0
7
/0

5
/2

0
0
4

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
3
9

W
e
s
t

H
a
d
lo

w
T

Q
 6

2
8
9
 5

0
1
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

h
e
 F

re
e
h
o
ld

 

to
 C

a
rp

e
n
te

rs
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
3
9

2
5
/0

6
/2

0
0
4

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
4
0

W
e
s
t

S
e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s

T
Q

 5
2
3
5
2
3
 t
o
 

T
Q

 5
2
8
5
1
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
H

u
b
b
a
rd

s
 H

ill
 

to
 G

ra
c
io

u
s
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
4
0

0
4
/0

8
/2

0
0
4

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

2
4
2

E
a
s
t

C
h
ilh

a
m

T
R

 0
7
7
 5

2
6

A
E

1
8
 &

 

A
E

4
2
9

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
A

E
1
8
 &

 

A
E

4
2
9

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
2
4
2

0
1
/1

0
/2

0
0
4

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

2
4
3

E
a
s
t

S
t 
M

a
rg

a
re

t'
s
 

B
a
y

T
R

 3
6
3
9
 4

4
6
6
 

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
D

ro
v
e
w

a
y
 

G
a
rd

e
n
s
 t
o
 K

e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 C

lo
s
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
4
3

2
0
/1

0
/2

0
0
4

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

je
c
te

d
M

e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
4
4

E
a
s
t

R
a
m

s
g
a
te

T
R

 3
8
8
 6

5
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 a
c
ro

s
s
 p

la
y
in

g
 

fi
e
ld

s
 o

ff
 H

o
n
e
y
s
u
c
k
le

 R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
2
4
4

2
5
/1

0
/2

0
0
4

O
rd

e
rs

 m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

2
4
5

W
e
s
t

G
ra

v
e
s
h
a
m

N
U

3
1
A

, 
T

Q
 

6
4
2
 6

9
1
 t
o
 T

Q
 

6
4
4
 6

9
3

N
U

3
3
 T

Q
 6

4
4
 

6
9
3
 t
o
 T

Q
 6

5
2
 

6
9
2

N
S

3
1
A

,

N
S

3
3

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
N

U
3
1
A

 &
 

N
U

3
3

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/G
R

/C
2
4
5

2
6
/1

0
/2

0
0
4

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
N

o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
4
6

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 0
6
2
7
 6

4
8
2
 

to
 0

9
8
0
 6

5
7
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
R

e
e
v
e
s
 

B
e
a
c
h
 t
o
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 C
W

8
2
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 

th
e
 S

p
o
rt

s
m

a
n
 P

u
b
lic

 H
o
u
s
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
4
6

0
3
/1

1
/2

0
0
4

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

2
4
8

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
2
9
5
 6

6
0
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
, 
G

ra
s
m

e
re

 

P
a
s
tu

re
s

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
4
8

1
4
/1

2
/2

0
0
4

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

2
4
9

E
a
s
t

T
e
n
te

rd
e
n

T
Q

 5
8
8
5
3
0
 t
o
 

T
Q

 1
3
5
4
0
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
, 
A

s
h
fo

rd
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 A

B
5
 a

n
d
 H

e
a
th

e
r 

D
ri
v
e
 

to
 f
o
o
tp

a
th

 l
e
a
d
in

g
 t
o
 A

2
8
 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
2
4
9

2
1
/0

1
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

S
O

S
 d

id
 n

o
t 

c
o
n
fi
rm

 t
h
e
 

O
rd

e
r

2
5
0

E
a
s
t

S
to

u
rm

o
u
th

T
R

 2
6
5
 6

3
3

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
W

e
s
t 

S
to

u
rm

o
u
th

 t
o
 f
o
rm

e
r 

B
2
0
4
6
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 H

e
ro

n
s
g
a
te

 F
a
rm

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
5
0

0
8
/0

2
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

C
h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

2
5
5

W
e
s
t

W
e
s
t

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n
T

Q
 5

8
8
 6

0
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 T
e
rr

y
's

 L
o
d
g
e
 

F
a
rm

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
5
5

2
2
/0

7
/2

0
0
5

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

je
c
te

d
S

te
w

a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
5
6

E
a
s
t

L
e
y
s
d
o
w

n
T

R
 0

4
3
 6

9
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
W

in
g
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 

M
u
s
w

e
ll 

M
a
n
o
r

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
5
6

0
5
/0

8
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
5
7

E
a
s
t

S
a
n
d
g
a
te

T
R

 2
0
1
 3

5
1

H
F

6
4
,

H
F

6
5
, 
H

F
6
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
E

n
c
o
m

b
e
 t
o
 

P
ro

s
p
e
c
t 
R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
2
5
7

1
5
/0

8
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

Page 37



2
5
8

W
e
s
t

M
e
o
p
h
a
m

T
Q

 6
3
8
7
 6

4
8
6

N
S

3
6
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
S

te
e
le

's
 L

a
n
e
, 

A
2
2
7
 -

 N
S

2
8
5

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
2
5
8

2
3
/0

8
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
C

a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
5
9

E
a
s
t

W
e
s
tg

a
te

-o
n
-

S
e
a

T
R

 3
1
5
5
 6

9
0
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
A

lle
n
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

to
 D

u
n
s
ta

n
 A

v
e
n
u
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
2
5
9

2
7
/0

9
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

lin
k
e
d
 w

it
h
 

fi
le

P
R

O
W

/T
M

4
2

/1
2
8
3

2
6
0

E
a
s
t

A
d
is

h
a
m

1
) 

T
R

 2
1
8
 5

3
3
 

2
) 

T
R

 2
2
2
 5

3
4
 

3
) 

T
R

 2
1
9
 5

2
6
 

4
) 

T
R

 2
2
3
 5

3
0

F
o
u
r 

c
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
6
0

1
0
/1

0
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
rs

 m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d
, 
c
a
s
e
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 t
o
 

S
e
c
re

a
tr

y
 o

f 
S

ta
te

 -

P
u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 t
o
 

b
e
 h

e
ld

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

2
6
1

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
5
9
 4

4
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
K

M
2
7
2
 t
o
 

B
a
tt
le

 L
a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
6
1

0
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

O
rd

e
r 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

2
6
2

W
e
s
t

B
ir
lin

g
T

Q
 6

6
7
 6

1
7

M
R

4
8

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
 M

R
4
8

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
6
2

0
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

2
6
3

W
e
s
t

W
ro

th
a
m

T
Q

 6
0
1
 5

9
2

M
R

2
3
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
M

R
2
3
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
6
3

0
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
6
4

W
e
s
t

B
ir
lin

g
T

Q
 6

6
5
 6

2
3

M
R

6
0

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
M

R
6
0

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
6
4

0
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

2
6
5

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
3
8
 4

2
8

E
R

7
6

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
7
6

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
5

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
6
6

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
9
 4

3
5

E
R

1
7
5

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
7
5

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
6

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
D

e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

2
6
7

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
0
 4

2
3

E
R

1
7
7

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
7
7

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
7

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
D

e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

2
6
8

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
8
 4

2
9

E
R

1
7
8

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
7
8

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
8

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
D

e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

2
6
9

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
1
 4

3
2

E
R

1
8
4

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
8
4

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
6
9

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
D

e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

Page 38



2
7
0

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
7
1
 4

2
2

E
R

2
6
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
2
6
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
0

0
7
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
D

e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

2
7
1

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
8
7
 4

0
0

E
R

8
9
 &

 

E
R

2
2
3

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
8
9
 &

 

E
R

2
2
3

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
1

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

2
7
2

E
a
s
t

A
lk

h
a
m

T
R

 2
5
7
 4

1
8

E
R

1
7
9

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
7
9

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
2

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

2
7
3

E
a
s
t

E
lli

n
g
e

T
R

 2
3
8
 4

2
8

E
R

1
8
6

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
1
8
6

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
3

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

2
7
4

E
a
s
t

W
e
s
t

H
o
u
g
h
a
m

T
R

 2
6
3
 3

9
3

E
R

2
2
4

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
2
2
4

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
7
4

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
7
5

W
e
s
t

L
e
n
h
a
m

T
Q

 9
0
4
 5

2
2

K
H

4
3
3

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
K

H
4
3
3

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
7
5

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
7
6

W
e
s
t

Ig
h
th

a
m

T
Q

 6
0
6
 5

5
0

M
R

3
1
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
M

R
3
1
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
7
6

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
7
7

W
e
s
t

W
a
te

ri
n
g
b
u
ry

T
Q

 6
9
7
 5

4
4

M
R

5
0
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
M

R
5
0
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
7
7

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
7
8

E
a
s
t

W
o
rm

d
a
le

T
Q

 8
5
8
 6

3
5

Z
R

6
4

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
Z

R
6
4

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
7
8

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
7
9

W
e
s
t

H
a
w

k
h
u
rs

t
T

Q
 7

6
5
 2

8
3

W
C

2
3
0

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
W

C
2
3
0

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
2
7
9

2
9
/1

1
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
8
0

E
a
s
t

C
a
p
e
l-
le

-F
e
rn

e
T

R
 2

6
6
 3

8
8

E
R

2
2
6

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
2
2
6

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
8
0

1
6
/1

2
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

2
8
1

E
a
s
t

C
a
p
e
l-
le

-F
e
rn

e
T

R
 2

7
6
 3

9
3

E
R

2
2
5

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
2
2
5

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
8
1

1
6
/1

2
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

2
8
2

E
a
s
t

T
a
ts

fi
e
ld

T
Q

 4
5
3
 5

6
8

E
R

2
2
5

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
E

R
2
2
5

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
8
2

1
9
/1

2
/2

0
0
5

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

2
8
3

E
a
s
t

L
y
d
d

T
R

 0
5
5
 1

8
5

F
o
o
tp

a
th

s

H
L
4
, 
3
7
 &

 

3
8

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d

B
y
w

a
y
s

H
L
3
9
, 
4
0
 &

 

4
1

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 o

f 
F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
 

H
L
4
, 
3
7
 &

 3
8
 a

n
d
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 

B
y
w

a
y
s
 H

L
3
9
, 
4
0
 &

 4
1

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
2
8
3

2
6
/0

1
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
A

p
p
e
a
l 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
. 
 C

a
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
O

ff
ic

e
 

fo
r 

th
e
 N

o
rt

h
 E

a
s
t

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

2
8
4

E
a
s
t

S
a
n
d
w

ic
h

T
R

 3
2
5
 5

8
1

E
S

9
C

la
im

e
d
 a

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
t 
to

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 

E
S

9
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
8
4

2
8
/0

2
/2

0
0
6

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
8
5

E
a
s
t

N
e
w

in
g
to

n
T

Q
 8

5
3
 6

4
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 O

rc
h
a
rd

 

D
ri
v
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 G

ro
u
n
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
8
5

0
3
/0

3
/2

0
0
6

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

2
8
6

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
3
5
 4

3
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 r
u
n
n
in

g
 a

lo
n
g
 

R
o
u
g
h
la

n
d
s
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
8
6

1
5
/0

3
/2

0
0
6

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

Page 39



2
8
7

W
e
s
t

W
e
s
t

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n
T

Q
 5

7
5
 6

0
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

in
k
e
rp

o
t 

L
a
n
e
 t
o
 S

D
2
8
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
2
8
7

2
8
/0

3
/2

0
0
6

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
8
8

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
5
1
 4

6
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
K

M
2
4
0
 t
o
 

M
ile

b
u
s
h
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
8
8

0
8
/0

8
/2

0
0
6

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

2
8
9

W
e
s
t

N
o
rt

h
fl
e
e
t

T
Q

 8
6
4
 6

0
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
B

e
a
u
m

o
n
t 

R
o
a
d
 a

n
d
 D

o
v
e
r 

R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/G
R

/C
2
8
9

0
9
/0

8
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
9
0

E
a
s
t

L
y
d
d
e
n

T
R

 2
4
2
 4

4
8

E
R

1
2
1

C
la

im
e
d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rs
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 

E
R

1
2
1

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
9
0

1
4
/0

8
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
9
1

E
a
s
t

L
y
d
d
e
n

T
R

 2
4
2
 4

4
8

E
R

1
2
1

C
la

im
e
d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rs
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 

E
R

1
2
1

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
2
9
1

3
0
/0

8
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
9
2

E
a
s
t

L
it
tl
e
 C

h
a
rt

T
Q

 9
3
4
 4

6
6

A
W

1
0
8

C
la

im
e
d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rs
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

A
W

1
0
8

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
2
9
2

0
4
/0

9
/2

0
0
6

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 -

 P
u
b
lic

 

In
q
u
ir
y
 t
o
 b

e
 h

e
ld

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

2
9
3

E
a
s
t

B
ir
c
h
in

g
to

n
T

R
 3

0
4
 6

9
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
Y

e
w

 T
re

e
 

G
a
rd

e
n
s
 t
o
 N

e
a
m

e
 W

o
o
d
s

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
2
9
3

0
5
/1

0
/2

0
0
6

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

W
ilk

in
s
/M

a
tt

G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

2
9
4

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
4
4
 4

7
4
 t
o
 

T
Q

 7
4
4
 4

7
7

C
la

im
e
d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 
T

ild
e
n
 L

a
n
e
 t
o
 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 K
M

2
2
9

B
y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
2
9
4

3
1
/1

0
/2

0
0
6

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
9
5

E
a
s
t

T
e
y
n
h
a
m

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
Z

R
2
3
4
 t
o
 

Z
R

2
3
4

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
2
9
5

2
9
/0

1
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

S
te

w
a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

C
a
s
e

a
rc

h
iv

e
d

2
9
6

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
6
 6

6
4

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
M

id
d
le

 W
a
ll 

to
 

C
o
rn

w
a
lli

s
 C

ir
c
le

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
9
6

2
0
/0

2
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

L
a
u
ra

W
ilk

in
s
/M

a
tt

G
a
rv

e
y

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

2
9
7

E
a
s
t

L
it
tl
e
b
o
u
rn

e

T
R

 1
9
8
4
 5

7
2
5
 

to
 T

R
 2

0
6
0
 

5
7
5
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

B
1
5
0
 t
o
 T

h
e
 

H
ill

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
9
7

2
7
/0

3
/2

0
0
7

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
9
8

E
a
s
t

L
it
tl
e
b
o
u
rn

e

T
R

 1
9
1
0
 5

6
5
6
 

to
 T

R
 2

0
6
0
 

5
7
5
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
C

B
1
5
2
 t
o
 T

h
e
 

H
ill

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
9
8

2
7
/0

3
/2

0
0
7

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

2
9
9

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
5
 6

5
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
G

le
b
e
 W

a
y
 t
o
 

th
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
c
ro

s
s
in

g
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
2
9
9

0
7
/0

6
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

L
a
u
ra

W
ilk

in
s
/M

a
tt

G
a
rv

e
y

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

3
0
0

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n

T
Q

 7
1
7
 4

1
7
 t
o
 

T
Q

 7
5
1
 4

1
1

C
la

im
e
d
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 

S
h
e
re

n
d
e
n
 L

a
n
e
 t
o
 H

a
rt

s
 H

e
a
th

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
3
0
0

0
4
/0

7
/2

0
0
7

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

3
0
1

W
e
s
t

S
w

a
n
s
c
o
m

b
e

T
Q

 6
0
5
 7

5
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
P

ilg
ri
m

s
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
A

/C
3
0
1

2
0
/0

7
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n
F

o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

Page 40



3
0
2

E
a
s
t

G
re

a
ts

to
n
e

T
R

 0
8
0
8
 2

2
8
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

h
e
 P

a
ra

d
e
 t
o
 

M
e
rr

it
t 
R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
3
0
2

2
0
/0

8
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

3
0
3

E
a
s
t

Ic
k
h
a
m

T
R

 2
0
0
2
 5

6
7
7
 

to
 T

R
 2

0
5
4
 

5
6
2
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
L
a
c
k
e
n
d
e
n
 t
o
 

G
a
rr

in
g
to

n
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
3
0
3

2
0
/0

8
/2

0
0
7

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

3
0
4

E
a
s
t

L
y
m

p
n
e
, 
H

y
th

e
T

R
 1

2
0
 3

5
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
B

e
lc

a
ir
e
 C

lo
s
e
 

to
 H

a
rm

a
n
 A

v
e
n
u
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
3
0
4

0
6
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

F
o
o
tp

a
th

re
c
o
rd

e
d

3
0
5

W
e
s
t

M
a
rd

e
n
 &

 

H
o
rs

m
o
n
d
e
n

T
Q

 7
3
8
 4

2
2
 t
o
 

T
Q

 7
2
3
 4

2
6

In
c
lu

d
e
s

p
a
th

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 F
P

 

K
M

2
6
1
, 
F

P
 

K
M

2
5
8
, 
F

P
 

W
T

3
3
3
, 
F

P
 

W
T

3
3
2
 &

 

F
P

 W
T

3
3
1

C
la

im
e
d
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
, 

G
o
u
d
h
u
rs

t 
R

o
a
d
 t
o
 Q

u
e
e
n
 

M
e
a
d
s

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

&
T

W
/C

3
0

5
0
6
/1

2
/2

0
0
7

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

3
0
6

W
e
s
t

D
a
rt

fo
rd

T
Q

5
0
9
7
/7

2
4
1

to

T
Q

5
1
0
4
/7

2
6
4

to

T
Q

5
0
9
8
/7

2
7
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

, 
T

ile
 K

iln
 L

a
n
e
 

to
 C

a
lv

e
rt

 D
ri
v
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
A

/C
3
0
6

0
5
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

a
n
 O

rd
e
r 

- 
n
o
 

A
p
p
e
a
l 
re

c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

C
a
s
e

c
o
m

p
le

te

3
0
7

W
e
s
t

S
n
o
d
la

n
d
 &

 

L
a
rk

fi
e
ld

T
Q

7
1
1
9
 6

1
3
1
 

to
 T

Q
 7

1
3
1
 

6
1
0
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 r
u
n
n
in

g
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 M
R

4
4
 a

n
d
 

a
n
o
th

e
r 

c
o
n
n
e
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 

M
R

4
4

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
0
7

0
4
/0

4
/2

0
0
8

A
c
c
e
le

ra
te

d
 i
n
 l
in

e
 

w
it
h
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 -

 u
n
d
e
r 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

3
0
8

W
e
s
t

L
e
n
h
a
m

T
Q

 9
1
0
1
 4

9
9
5
 

to
 T

Q
 9

1
2
8
 

4
9
8
5

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 f
ro

m
 B

u
ll 

H
ill

 

to
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 K
H

4
0
5
, 
L
e
n
h
a
m

 

H
e
a
th

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
3
0
8

0
1
/0

5
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 -

 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

3
0
9

W
e
s
t

S
u
n
d
ri
d
g
e

T
Q

 4
8
0
8
 5

3
4
5
 

to
 T

Q
 4

8
1
4
 

5
3
4
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 N

e
w

 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 S

R
2
5
9
, 

S
u
n
d
ri
d
g
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
0
9

0
5
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

3
1
0

W
e
s
t

H
o
lli

n
g
b
o
u
rn

e

T
Q

 8
4
2
2
 5

4
8
2
 

to
 T

Q
 8

4
3
4
 

5
5
0
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

G
re

e
n
w

a
y
 C

o
u
rt

 R
o
a
d
 t
o
 B

2
1
6
3
, 

H
o
lli

n
g
b
o
u
rn

e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
3
1
0

1
0
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

3
1
1

W
e
s
t

W
e
s
t

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n

T
Q

 5
7
3
2
 6

3
2
5
 

to
 T

Q
 5

7
3
9
 

6
3
1
7

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 H

e
v
e
r 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 t
o
 C

h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d
, 
W

e
s
t 

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
1
1

1
8
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

Page 41



3
1
2

E
a
s
t

M
a
rg

a
te

T
R

 3
8
8
5
 7

1
9
6
 

to
 T

R
 3

8
8
7
 

7
1
1
3

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 K

n
o
c
k
h
o
lt
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 T

h
e
 R

id
in

g
s
, 
M

a
rg

a
te

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
3
1
2

2
2
/0

7
/2

0
0
8

U
n
d
e
r

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

3
1
3

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
7
2
 6

4
7
9
 

to
 T

R
 1

0
9
8
 

6
4
9
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 G

o
rr

e
ll 

W
o
o
d
 v

ia
 B

e
n
a
c
re

 W
o
o
d
 t
o
 S

t 

A
n
d
re

w
s
 C

lo
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
tu

rn
in

g
 t
o
 

G
o
rr

e
ll 

W
o
o
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
3
1
3

0
6
/0

8
/2

0
0
8

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
1
4

W
e
s
t

S
n
o
d
la

n
d

T
Q

 7
0
0
3
 6

1
8
3
 

to
 T

Q
 7

0
0
8
 

6
1
8
4

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 B

ir
lin

g
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 B

in
g
le

y
 C

lo
s
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
1
4

2
9
/0

8
/2

0
0
8

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
1
5

W
e
s
t

S
h
ip

b
o
u
rn

e

T
Q

 5
8
9
4
 5

0
9
3
 

to
 T

Q
 5

8
9
4
 

5
0
8
9

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 f
ro

m
 M

T
5
0
 t
o
 

M
T

5
0

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
1
5

0
6
/1

0
/2

0
0
8

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
1
6

W
e
s
t

R
iv

e
rh

e
a
d

T
Q

 5
1
4
7
 5

6
2
4
 

to
 T

Q
 5

1
4
7
 

5
6
2
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

M
a
id

s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 S

t.
 M

a
ry

's
 

C
h
u
rc

h
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
1
6

1
3
/1

0
/2

0
0
8

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
1
7

W
e
s
t

T
u
n
b
ri
d
g
e

W
e
lls

T
Q

 5
8
3
8
 3

9
3
7
 

to
 T

Q
 5

8
4
0
 

3
9
4
5
 a

n
d
 T

Q
 

5
8
4
4
 3

9
3
8

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
 f
ro

m
 

C
la

n
ri
c
a
rd

e
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 M

o
u
n
t 

P
le

a
s
a
n
t 
R

o
a
d
 a

n
d
 C

h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
W

/C
3
1
7

2
0
/1

1
/2

0
0
8

A
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 a

c
c
e
le

ra
te

d
 

in
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

(d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t)

,

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
, 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s

re
c
e
iv

e
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

3
1
8

W
e
s
t

H
ild

e
n
b
o
ro

u
g
h

T
Q

 5
8
1
 4

9
1
 t
o
 

T
Q

 5
8
2
 4

9
2
 

a
n
d
 T

Q
 5

8
0
 

4
8
8
 t
o
 T

Q
 5

8
0
 

4
9
3
 a

n
d
 T

Q
 

5
8
0
 4

8
8
 t
o
 T

Q
 

5
7
9
 4

8
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

s
 f
ro

m
 

B
ri
d
le

w
a
y
 M

T
5
2
 t
o
 P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 M
T

3
7
 a

n
d
 f
ro

m
 P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 M
T

3
7
 t
o
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

c
o
n
n
e
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 

M
T

3
7
 a

n
d
 f
ro

m
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
 M

T
5
2
 

to
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 M
T

3
7

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
1
8

2
4
/1

1
/2

0
0
8

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
1
9

E
a
s
t

M
in

s
te

r

T
R

 3
0
5
7
 6

4
7
2
 

to
 T

R
 3

0
4
7
 

6
4
5
6

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 M

o
n
k
to

n
 

R
o
a
d
 (

s
ta

rt
 o

f 
T

E
3
4
) 

to
 i
ts

 

ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 T
E

3
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
H

/C
3
1
9

2
4
/0

4
/2

0
0
9

A
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 a

c
c
e
le

ra
te

d
 

in
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

(d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t)

 -
 

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

M
a
ri
a

M
c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

Page 42



3
2
0

E
a
s
t

C
h
e
ri
to

n
,

F
o
lk

e
s
to

n
e

T
R

 1
9
0
3
 3

6
1
8
 

to
 T

R
 1

9
0
9
 

3
6
0
9

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 

V
a
le

b
ro

o
k
 C

lo
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
e
rn

 

e
n
d
 o

f 
P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 H
F

4
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
3
2
0

1
4
/0

5
/2

0
0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
2
1

W
e
s
t

T
u
n
b
ri
d
g
e

W
e
lls

T
Q

 5
8
9
6
 4

0
3
9
 

to
 T

Q
5
8
9
3
 

4
0
4
5

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 T

o
p
 

G
a
te

 o
f 
G

ro
s
v
e
n
o
r 

P
a
rk

 t
o
 

Q
u
a
rr

y
 R

o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
W

/C
3
2
1

2
5
/0

5
/2

0
0
9

A
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 a

c
c
e
le

ra
te

d
 

in
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

(d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t)

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

3
2
2

E
a
s
t

H
ig

h
 H

a
ld

e
n

T
Q

 9
0
6
9
 3

6
4
5
 

to
 T

Q
 9

2
2
9
 

3
6
6
4

A
T

1
6
4

C
la

im
e
d
 d

o
w

n
g
ra

d
in

g
 t
o
 a

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 t
h
e
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
 

A
T

1
6
4
 r

u
n
n
in

g
 f
ro

m
 R

e
d
b
ro

o
k
 

S
tr

e
e
t 
to

 H
a
rb

o
u
rn

e
 L

a
n
e

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
3
2
2

1
1
/0

6
/2

0
0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
2
3

E
a
s
t

H
a
rb

le
d
o
w

n

T
R

 1
2
9
 5

7
3
 t
o
 

T
R

 1
2
9
 9

5
7
7

C
B

4
8
5

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 t
o
 a

 

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 C
B

4
8
5
 r

u
n
n
in

g
 f
ro

m
 

W
h
it
e
h
a
ll 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 i
ts

 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 N

o
rt

h
 D

o
w

n
s
 W

a
y

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
3
2
3

0
7
/0

7
/2

0
0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
2
4

E
a
s
t

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

T
R

 1
0
8
2
 6

5
7
1
 

to
 T

R
 1

0
8
4
 

6
5
8
0

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 G

re
e
n
 

L
a
n
e
 t
o
 H

a
rw

ic
h
 S

tr
e
e
t

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/C
C

/C
3
2
4

1
3
/0

8
/2

0
0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
2
5

E
a
s
t

M
ilt

o
n
 R

e
g
is

, 

S
it
ti
n
g
b
o
u
rn

e

T
Q

 9
0
0
6
 6

5
0
3
 

to
 T

Q
 9

0
1
1
 

6
4
9
4

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

M
id

d
le

tu
n
e
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 t
o
 V

ic
a
ra

g
e
 

R
o
a
d

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
W

/C
3
2
5

2
7
/0

8
/2

0
0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
2
6

E
a
s
t

B
ra

b
o
u
rn

e

T
R

 0
7
6
6
 4

0
1
4
 

to
 T

R
 0

7
4
0
 

4
0
4
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

R
o
a
d
 t
o
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 A
E

2
8
5

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/A
S

/C
3
2
6

0
7
/1

2
/2

0
0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
2
7

E
a
s
t

R
in

g
w

o
u
ld

 w
it
h
 

K
in

g
s
d
o
w

n

T
R

 3
7
5
9
 4

8
1
1
 

to
 T

R
 3

7
7
1
 

4
8
1
1

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 T

h
e
 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 t
o
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 E
R

8
F

o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
3
2
7

2
9
/1

2
/2

0
0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
2
8

W
e
s
t

H
ild

e
n
b
o
ro

u
g
h

T
Q

 5
7
7
8
 4

7
5
0
 

to
 T

Q
 5

7
7
3
 

4
7
3
9

M
T

4
3

C
la

im
e
d
 a

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
t 
to

 t
h
e
 

a
lig

n
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
p
a
rt

 o
f 
P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 M
T

4
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
2
8

0
5
/0

1
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
2
9

E
a
s
t

D
y
m

c
h
u
rc

h
 &

 

B
u
rm

a
rs

h

T
R

 1
2
7
5
 3

1
9
1
 

to
 T

R
 1

2
1
5
 

3
3
1
7

C
la

im
e
d
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
 

ru
n
n
in

g
 f
ro

m
 A

2
5
9
 t
o
 B

o
to

lp
h
's

 

B
ri
d
g
e
 R

o
a
d

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/S
H

/C
3
2
9

1
7
/0

2
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
0

E
a
s
t

S
h
e
p
h
e
rd

s
w

e
ll

w
it
h
 C

o
ld

re
d

T
R

 2
5
9
1
 4

7
7
9
 

to
 T

R
 2

5
9
4
 

4
7
5
2

C
la

im
e
d
 F

o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 P

u
b
lic

 

F
o
o
tp

a
th

 E
R

8
0
/8

1
 (

M
o
o
rl
a
n
d
 

R
o
a
d
) 

to
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 E
R

8
3

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/D
O

/C
3
3
0

0
2
/0

3
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

Page 43



3
3
1

W
e
s
t

A
y
le

s
fo

rd
 &

 

B
u
rh

a
m

T
Q

 7
1
6
9
 6

1
9
9
 

to
 T

Q
 7

2
4
7
 

5
9
0
4

M
R

4
6
5
,

M
R

4
5
9
,

M
R

4
3
0
 &

 

M
R

4
5
4

(p
a
rt

)

C
la

im
e
d
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 t
o
 R

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 

B
y
w

a
y
 s

ta
tu

s
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

s
 

M
R

4
6
5
, 
M

R
4
5
9
, 
M

R
4
3
0
 &

 

M
R

4
5
4
 (

p
a
rt

) 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 o

f 

fo
u
r 

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y
s

R
e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 B

y
w

a
y

P
R

O
W

/T
M

/C
3
3
1

2
3
/0

3
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
2

W
e
s
t

S
w

a
n
le

y

T
Q

 5
0
9
5
 6

8
1
5
 

to
 5

0
9
4
 6

8
1
4

C
la

im
e
d
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 f
ro

m
 

A
z
a
le

a
 D

ri
v
e
 t
o
 L

a
d
d
s
 W

a
y

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
3
2

2
5
/0

3
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
3

W
e
s
t

S
e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s

T
Q

 5
3
5
4
 5

2
9
1
 

to
 T

Q
 5

3
5
4
 

5
2
9
6

C
la

im
e
d
 P

u
b
lic

 F
o
o
tp

a
th

 r
u
n
n
in

g
 

fr
o
m

 o
n
e
 p

u
b
lic

 r
o
a
d
s
id

e
 f
o
o
tp

a
th

 

to
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

in
 f
ro

n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 W

h
it
e
 

H
a
rt

 P
u
b
lic

 H
o
u
s
e
 (

T
o
n
b
ri
d
g
e
 

R
o
a
d
)

F
o
o
tp

a
th

P
R

O
W

/S
E

/C
3
3
3

2
6
/0

4
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

3
3
4

W
e
s
t

T
e
s
to

n

R
o

u
te

 1
 T

Q
 

6
9
7
8
 5

4
8
2
 t
o
 

7
0
1
7
 5

4
3
9
 

R
o

u
te

 2
 
T

Q

6
9
8
6
 5

4
6
5
 t
o
 

6
9
8
0
 5

4
6
1
 

R
o

u
te

 3
 T

Q
 

6
9
9
1
 5

4
7
9
 t
o
 

7
0
1
7
 5

4
5
9
 

R
o

u
te

 4
 
T

Q

7
0
0
6
 5

4
4
3
 t
o
 

7
0
1
7
 5

4
5
9

C
la

im
e
d
 B

ri
d
le

w
a
y
s
 k

n
o
w

n
 a

s
 

G
re

e
n
 W

a
lk

s
:-

R
o

u
te

1
-N

o
rt

h
p
o
le

 R
o
a
d
 t
o
 K

M
3
3
3

R
o

u
te

 2
 -

 R
o
u
te

 1
 t
o
 L

iv
e
s
e
y
 

S
tr

e
e
t

R
o

u
te

3
 N

o
rt

h
p
o
le

 R
o
a
d
 t
o
 K

M
3
3
3
 a

n
d
 

R
o
u
te

 4
R

o
u

te
 4

 R
o
u
te

 1
 

to
 K

M
3
3
3
 a

n
d
 R

o
u
te

 3
B

ri
d
le

w
a
y

P
R

O
W

/M
A

/C
3
3
4

2
7
/0

4
/2

0
1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n

Page 44



Y
e

a
r 

2
0

0
6

R
e

f.
 N

o
.

P
a

th
 N

o
P

a
ri

s
h

D
e

s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
S

ta
tu

s
 (

th
e

 s
ta

g
e

 t
h

e
 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s

e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
2

4
4

A
E

4
5

1
A

ld
in

g
to

n
E

x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

2
7

/0
2

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

 (
S

o
S

)
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2

4
5

W
C

4
2

C
ra

n
b

ro
o

k
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

2
/0

3
/2

0
0

6
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a

ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
2

4
6

H
E

3
5

6
P

o
s
tl
in

g
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

7
/0

3
/2

0
0

6
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2

4
7

K
M

1
6

4
H

u
n

to
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
1

/0
3

/2
0

0
6

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
M

a
ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
2

4
8

C
W

5
2

W
h

it
s
ta

b
le

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
1

/0
3

/2
0

0
6

W
it
h

d
ra

w
n

1
2

4
9

K
H

4
0

5
L

e
n

h
a

m
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

5
/0

4
/2

0
0

6
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
0

W
C

2
9

7
, 

W
C

3
0

2
S

a
n

d
h

u
rs

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

2
/0

4
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
D

e
c
lin

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
1

W
T

2
9

5
, 

W
T

2
9

3
, 

W
T

2
9

4
B

re
n

c
h

le
y
 &

 M
a

tf
ie

ld
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

3
/0

5
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
C

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

 (
S

o
S

)
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
2

A
E

4
5

0
, 

A
E

4
5

2
A

ld
in

g
to

n
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

4
/0

5
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

 (
S

o
S

)
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2

5
3

S
R

5
2

4
H

e
v
e

r
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

5
/0

6
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
4

H
E

2
7

6
B

S
a

lt
w

o
o

d
E

x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

2
2

/0
6

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

C
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

 (
S

o
S

)
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
5

A
W

1
7

0
H

o
th

fi
e

ld
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

1
/0

7
/2

0
0

6
S

u
b

m
it
te

d
 t

o
 S

o
S

S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
6

W
C

3
7

G
o

u
ld

h
u

rs
t

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
1

/0
8

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 c

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
7

K
H

2
4

5
L

e
e

d
s

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
8

/0
8

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 c

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
L

a
u

ra
 W

ilk
in

s

1
2

5
8

M
T

2
H

ild
e

n
b

o
ro

u
g

h
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

7
/0

9
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
m

a
d

e
 &

 c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

te
w

a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

1
2

5
9

M
R

4
9

3
A

y
le

s
fo

rd

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

&
 C

e
a

ti
o

n
1

0
/1

0
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
d

e
c
lin

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

5
9

M
R

4
9

3
A

y
le

s
fo

rd
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
O

rd
e

r 
D

e
c
lin

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

o
n

ia
 C

o
v
e

n
tr

y

1
2

6
0

M
T

5
0

S
h

ip
b

o
u

rn
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
0

/1
0

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 c

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

te
w

a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

1
2

6
1

A
W

1
5

6
P

lu
c
k
le

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

4
/0

8
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
m

a
d

e
 &

 c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
S

te
w

a
rt

 B
ig

g
s

1
2

6
2

A
T

2
0

5
W

o
o

d
c
h

u
rc

h
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

7
/1

1
/2

0
0

6
O

rd
e

r 
m

a
d

e
 &

 c
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
M

a
ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
2

6
3

C
B

4
2

1
P

e
th

a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
4

/1
2

/2
0

0
6

O
rd

e
r 

m
a

d
e

 &
 c

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
L

a
u

ra
 W

ilk
in

s

1
2

6
4

A
W

1
4

8
P

lu
c
k
le

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

3
/1

0
/2

0
0

5
2

8
/0

8
/2

0
0

6

1
1

0
6

K
H

4
0

2
L

e
n

h
a

m
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

1
/0

6
/2

0
0

2
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2

6
5

Z
U

2
9

S
it
ti
n

g
b

o
u

rn
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
M

e
la

n
ie

 M
c
N

e
ir

D
e

ta
il

s
C

o
n

fi
rm

a
ti

o
n

R
e

g
is

te
r 

o
f 

a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 u
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

 A
c

t 
1

9
8

0

F
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 p

le
a

s
e

 c
a

ll 
0

1
6

2
2

 2
2

1
5

6
8

Page 45



Y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
7

R
e
f.

 N
o

.
P

a
th

 N
o

P
a
ri

s
h

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

D
a
te

R
e
c
e
iv

e
d

S
ta

tu
s

 (
th

e
 s

ta
g
e
 t
h
e
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a
c
h
e
d
)

W
it

h
d

ra
w

n
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

C
a
s
e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
2
6
6

C
C

1
6

C
a
n
te

rb
u
ry

S
1
1
6

E
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

0
1
/0

2
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y
 /
 C

h
ri
s
 W

a
d
e

1
2
6
7

M
R

4
4

S
n
o
d
la

n
d

D
iv

e
rs

io
n
 &

 

e
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

0
1
/0

2
/2

0
0
7

O
n
 H

o
ld

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
6
8

M
R

1
7
8

O
ff
h
a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n
 &

 

e
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

0
2
/0

3
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
6
9

Z
R

1
0
5

B
o
b
b
in

g
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

4
/2

0
0
7

N
e
w

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
7
0

C
B

1
7
7

Ic
k
h
a
m

 &
 W

e
ll

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
7
/0

4
/2

0
0
7

O
n
 H

o
ld

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
7
1

W
C

7
5

S
is

s
in

g
h
u
rs

t
T

C
P

A
 D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
0
/0

4
/2

0
0
7

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

1
2
7
2

C
C

1
8

C
a
n
te

rb
u
ry

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

A
w

a
it
in

g
 n

e
w

 u
p
d
a
te

d
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
7
3

A
W

2
0
0
A

B
e
th

e
rs

d
e
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
7
4

A
W

2
1
7

G
re

a
t 
C

h
a
rt

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

1
2
7
5

S
D

2
4
6

A
s
h
-c

u
m

-R
id

le
y

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

M
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fr

im
e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
7
6

N
S

2
2
9
A

L
u
d
d
e
s
d
o
w

n

E
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

&
 C

re
a
ti
o
n

2
4
/0

5
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
7
7

S
U

4
9

S
e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
7
8

A
W

5
B

e
n
e
n
d
e
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
7
9

Z
R

2
1
9

D
o
d
d
in

g
to

n
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
8
0

M
R

4
2
1

Ig
h
th

a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
5
/0

6
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
8
1

Z
R

4
4
9

S
ta

lis
fi
e
ld

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
6
/0

6
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
8
1
a

Z
R

4
2
0
, 
Z

R
4
2
4

T
h
ro

w
le

y
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
2
/0

7
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
8
2

E
E

1
4
9

P
re

s
to

n
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
1
/0

6
/2

0
0
7

O
n
 H

o
ld

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
8
3

T
M

4
2

W
e
s
tg

a
te

-o
n
-S

e
a

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
8
/0

8
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
8
4

M
T

1
1
4

H
a
d
lo

w
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

0
1
/0

8
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

1
2
8
5

T
E

3
3

M
in

s
te

r
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

1
2
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
2
8
6

C
H

6
2

R
e
c
u
lv

e
r

D
iv

e
rs

io
n
 &

 

e
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

0
5
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

1
2
8
7

S
U

3
S

e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
2
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
8
8

Z
R

3
2

U
p
c
h
u
rc

h
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

U
n
d
e
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

1
2
8
9

M
R

5
0
2

W
a
te

ri
n
g
b
u
ry

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
n
 H

o
ld

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h
la

n

D
e
ta

il
s

C
o

n
fi

rm
a
ti

o
n

R
e
g

is
te

r 
o

f 
c
u

rr
e
n

t 
a
p

p
li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 u

n
d

e
r 

th
e
 H

ig
h

w
a
y
s
 A

c
t 

1
9
8
0

F
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

le
a
s
e
 c

a
ll 

0
1
6
2
2
 2

2
1
5
6
8

Page 46



1
2
9
0

M
R

1
0
8
, 
M

R
4
8
8

D
it
to

n
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
4
/0

9
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 f
o
r 

p
a
rt

D
e
c
lin

e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 O

rd
e
r 

fo
r 

p
a
rt

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
9
1

K
M

2
9
0

S
ta

p
le

h
u
rs

t
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
3
/1

0
/2

0
0
7

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

Page 47



Y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
8

R
e
f.

 N
o

.
P

a
th

 N
o

P
a
ri

s
h

D
e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

D
a
te

R
e
c
e
iv

e
d

S
ta

tu
s

 (
th

e
 s

ta
g

e
 t

h
e

 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s
e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
2
9
2

Z
U

4
7

M
ilt

o
n
 R

e
g
is

, 

S
it
ti
n
g
b
o
u
rn

e
E

x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

1
9
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

S
u
b
m

is
s
io

n
 t
o
 S

o
S

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
9
3

M
R

3
9
2
, 
 M

R
3
5
0

S
h
ip

b
o
u
rn

e
D

iv
e
rs

io
n
s

2
1
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
rs

 m
a
d
e

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
9
4

Z
R

4
3
9

T
h
ro

w
le

y
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
8
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

W
it
h
d
ra

w
n

M
a
tt
h
e
w

 G
a
rv

e
y

1
2
9
5

M
R

4
3
0

Iv
y
 H

a
tc

h
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

2
8
/0

2
/2

0
0
8

R
e
je

c
te

d

1
2
9
6

H
E

7
4

E
lh

a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
9
/0

4
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
C

o
lin

 F
in

c
h
 &

 S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
9
7

N
S

1
8
5

C
o
b
h
a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
1
/0

5
/2

0
0
8

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
S

o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
2
9
8

M
U

3
T

o
n
b
ri
d
g
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h

la
n

1
2
9
9

T
R

X
3

R
a
m

s
g
a
te

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
 &

 C
o
n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o
m

p
le

te
M

a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h

la
n

1
3
0
0

K
M

4
3
, 
K

M
4
2

E
a
s
t 
F

a
rl
e
ig

h
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

U
n
d
e
r 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
1

T
E

9
S

t 
N

ic
o
la

s
 a

t 
W

a
d
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

C
o
m

p
le

te

1
3
0
2

C
W

5
2

W
h
it
s
ta

b
le

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

O
rd

e
r 

m
a
d
e
, 
c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 &

 

c
e
rt

if
ie

d
C

o
m

p
le

te
L
a
u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
3
0
3

A
E

2
8
2

B
ra

b
o
u
rn

e
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

1
6
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

R
e
p
o
rt

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
4

K
B

1
7

M
a
id

s
to

n
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
7
/0

6
/2

0
0
8

R
e
p
o
rt

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
5

M
R

2
3
5

W
ro

th
a
m

E
x
ti
n
g
u
is

h
m

e
n
t

3
0
/0

7
/2

0
0
8

R
e
p
o
rt

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
6

A
W

1
3
6

W
e
s
tw

e
ll

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

3
1
/0

7
/2

0
0
8

R
e
p
o
rt

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
7

M
R

8
1

B
ir
lin

g
D

iv
e
rs

io
n

1
3
/0

8
/2

0
0
8

R
e
p
o
rt

S
o
n
ia

 C
o
v
e
n
tr

y

1
3
0
8

C
B

8
6

S
tu

rr
y

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
6
/0

8
/2

0
0
8

U
n
d
e
r 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

M
a
ri
a
 M

c
L
a
u
c
h

la
n

1
3
0
9

Z
R

1
9
3

T
o
n
g
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
1
/0

9
/2

0
0
8

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n

1
3
1
0

K
B

2
8

M
a
id

s
to

n
e

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
0
/1

2
/2

0
0
8

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n

1
3
1
1

W
C

1
3
8

C
ra

n
b
ro

o
k

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
9
/1

2
/2

0
0
8

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n

D
e
ta

il
s

C
o

n
fi

rm
a
ti

o
n

R
e
g

is
te

r 
o

f 
c
u

rr
e
n

t 
a
p

p
li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 u

n
d

e
r 

th
e
 H

ig
h

w
a
y
s
 A

c
t 

1
9
8
0

F
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

le
a
s
e
 c

a
ll 

0
1
6
2
2
 2

2
1
5
6
8

Page 48



Y
e

a
r 

2
0

0
9

R
e

f.
 N

o
.

P
a

th
 N

o
P

a
ri

s
h

D
e

s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
S

ta
tu

s
 (

th
e

 s
ta

g
e

 t
h

e
 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s

e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
3

1
2

W
T

2
9

7
, 

W
T

2
9

9
B

re
n

c
h

le
y

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
2

/0
1

/2
0

0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

1
3

S
R

3
9

6
W

e
s
te

rh
a

m
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
3

0
/0

1
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

1
4

S
R

4
4

2
P

e
n

s
h

u
rs

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

6
/0

2
/2

0
0

9
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

1
3

1
5

A
E

5
1

5
R

u
c
k
in

g
e

 &
 B

ils
in

g
to

n
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

9
/0

3
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

1
6

C
B

1
5

B
le

a
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
1

/0
4

/2
0

0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

1
7

W
C

5
A

G
o

u
d

h
u

rs
t

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

0
7

/0
4

/2
0

0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

1
8

K
M

1
1

9
B

o
u

g
h

to
n

 M
o

n
c
h

e
ls

e
a

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
3

/0
4

/2
0

0
9

O
rd

e
r 

C
o

n
fi
rm

e
d

C
o

m
p

le
te

L
a

u
ra

 W
ilk

in
s

1
3

1
9

H
M

2
9

B
ro

o
k
la

n
d

s
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

9
/0

4
/2

0
0

9
U

n
d

e
r 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
E

d
w

a
rd

 D
e

n
n

e
 &

 S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y

1
3

2
0

C
W

1
5

W
h

it
s
ta

b
le

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

3
0

/0
4

/2
0

0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
1

M
R

1
8

4
, 

M
R

1
7

7
T

ro
tt

is
c
lif

fe
T

C
P

A
 D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

2
/0

7
/2

0
0

9
R

e
p

o
rt

S
o

n
ia

 C
o

v
e

n
tr

y

1
3

2
2

A
U

5
8

A
A

s
h

fo
rd

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

1
6

/0
7

/2
0

0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
3

C
B

4
4

2
, 

C
B

4
3

2
P

e
th

a
m

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

2
3

/0
7

/2
0

0
9

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
4

E
E

2
5

5
E

a
s
tr

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

3
/0

8
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
5

A
W

2
2

6
, 

A
W

2
2

6
A

K
in

g
s
n

o
rt

h

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

&
 C

re
a

ti
o

n
0

8
/0

9
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
6

W
C

1
7

4
H

a
w

k
h

u
rs

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
0

8
/0

9
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
7

T
E

4
6

2
M

in
s
te

r,
 T

h
a

n
e

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

4
/0

9
/2

0
0

9
U

n
d

e
r 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
M

a
ri
a

 M
c
L

a
u

c
h

la
n

1
3

2
8

A
W

1
5

0
P

lu
c
k
le

y
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

4
/1

0
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

2
9

C
B

1
5

1
A

L
it
tl
e

b
o

u
rn

e
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

4
/1

0
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
0

K
H

5
5

5
A

C
h

a
rt

 S
u

tt
o

n
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

4
/1

0
/2

0
0

9
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
1

A
W

3
1

8
K

in
g

s
n

o
rt

h
C

re
a

ti
o

n
 O

rd
e

r
0

1
/0

8
/2

0
0

7
D

e
c
lin

e
d

W
it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
h

ri
s
 W

a
d

e

1
3

3
2

IP

H
M

4
, 

H
M

1
1

7
, 

H
M

1
1

5
, 

H
L

2
7

, 
 H

L
1

5
, 

H
L

1
4

L
y
d

d

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

,

C
re

a
ti
o

n
,

U
p

g
ra

d
e

,

E
x
ti
n

g
u

is
h

m
e

n
t

0
1

/1
0

/2
0

0
9

R
e

p
o

rt
M

a
tt
h

e
w

 G
a

rv
e

y

D
e

ta
il

s
C

o
n

fi
rm

a
ti

o
n

R
e

g
is

te
r 

o
f 

c
u

rr
e

n
t 

a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 u
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

 A
c

t 
1

9
8

0

F
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 p

le
a

s
e

 c
a

ll 
0

1
6

2
2

 2
2

1
5

6
8

Page 49



Y
e

a
r 

2
0

1
0

R
e

f.
 N

o
.

P
a

th
 N

o
P

a
ri

s
h

D
e

s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
S

ta
tu

s
 (

th
e

 s
ta

g
e

 t
h

e
 

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 r

e
a

c
h

e
d

)
W

it
h

d
ra

w
n

C
o

m
p

le
te

d
C

a
s

e
 O

ff
ic

e
r

1
3

3
5

W
C

2
5

6
F

ri
tt

e
n

d
e

n
T

C
P

A
 D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

5
/0

2
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
6

K
M

3
1

8
S

ta
p

le
h

u
rs

t
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
2

7
4

A
W

2
1

7
G

re
a

t 
C

h
a

rt
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

2
/0

3
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
7

C
C

5
7

C
a

n
te

rb
u

ry
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
1

2
/0

4
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
8

W
T

3
4

7
H

o
rs

m
o

n
d

e
n

D
iv

e
rs

io
n

1
9

/0
3

/2
0

1
0

A
w

a
it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

1
3

3
9

K
H

2
1

0
H

o
lli

n
g

b
o

u
rn

e
D

iv
e

rs
io

n
2

7
/0

4
/2

0
1

0
A

w
a

it
in

g
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n

D
e

ta
il

s
C

o
n

fi
rm

a
ti

o
n

R
e

g
is

te
r 

o
f 

c
u

rr
e

n
t 

a
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
s

 u
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 H

ig
h

w
a

y
s

 A
c

t 
1

9
8

0

F
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 p

le
a

s
e

 c
a

ll 
0

1
6

2
2

 2
2

1
5

6
8

Page 50



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues 
 

 

  

  

Report by Head of Planning Applications Group to the Regulation Committee on 18th May 
2010 
 
Summary:  Update for Members on planning enforcement matters. 
 
Recommendation:  To endorse the actions taken or contemplated on respective cases.  
 

Local Member:  Given by case in Appendices 1 to 3 Unrestricted 

 
 

Introduction 

  
1. This report provides an update on enforcement and monitoring work carried out by the 

Planning Applications Group since the 26
th
 January 2010 Regulation Committee. 

 
2. Summary schedules of all current cases have been produced (see Appendices 1 and 2). 

They cover unauthorised breaches of planning control and those occurring on permitted 
sites, primarily waste-related. The emphasis is on live and active cases along with those 
resolved between Meetings. This close targeting of effort is in accordance with the 
County Council’s Enforcement Protocol.  

 
3. Informal approaches are usually taken first with more serious and costly actions used 

only as a last resort. The priority is to urgently stop any environmental damage or 
unacceptable level of amenity impacts. Restoration is then pursued within the shortest 
practical timeframe. 

 

Report Format 

 
4. Cases have been taken from the appended schedules and expanded reports produced. 

These in turn are presented under the following categories: 
 

• Achievements / successes [including measurable progress on existing sites] 

• New cases, especially those requiring Member endorsement for action 

• Significant on-going cases 

• Other cases of interest and those requested by Members 
 
 
5. Members may wish to have verbal updates at Committee on particular sites from the 

schedules, (ideally with prior notice) or reports returned to the next Meeting. The report 
continues to give details of general site monitoring and progress on chargeable 
monitoring for minerals development.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 51



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues 
 

 

  

  

Meeting Enforcement Objectives 

 
6. Planning enforcement is a high profile County Council function. The powers used derive 

from planning statutes but the type and degree of action taken is discretionary. That is to 
allow a flexible and proportionate approach to cases. The resources allocated have to be 
balanced against those directed to other planning services, in turn referenced to 
corporate BVPI targets. There also needs to be a balance between responding at speed 
to live cases and attending to longer-term restoration objectives on existing sites.  

 
7. Since the last Meeting resources have been focussed on 5 sites where formal 

enforcement action has been taken, 6 cases where investigations are underway and a 
further 5 cases have been satisfactorily progressed. Amongst formal monitoring visits on 
permitted sites there have been 9 chargeable and 9 non-chargeable visits. 

 

 

Achievements / Successes [including measurable progress on sites] 

 

Red Lion Wharf, Northfleet (Member: Leslie Christie / Harold Craske) 
 
8. I have previously reported this case to Members. It concerns the unauthorised 

importation of significant quantities of waste wood for shredding. The site resides within 
Red Lion Wharf. The area is owned by SEEDA and is the subject of regeneration 
proposals formed within the ‘Northfleet Embankment Masterplan’.  

 
9. Members’ have previously resolved to reserve enforcement action against the wood 

stockpile to allow for outlets to be found for its constructive re-use. That has not provided 
a solution but it has served to attract a specialist wood processing company to the site. A 
planning application has recently been submitted for a temporary wood shredding yard. 
That would run until the land was required for regeneration purposes. The existing waste 
stockpile would be absorbed, processed and removed as an integral part of the scheme.  

 
10. The application has yet to be validated and would be processed on its own merits. 

Nevertheless, I thought it important to bring this development to Members attention as it 
offers a potential planning solution to the alleged planning contravention on site. This 
approach is also proportionate and in accordance with government guidance and good 
practice.  I shall keep Members informed as to progress on the application. 

 

 

Procurement and Implementation of computerised planning application system 

 
11. Intense effort is being put towards producing the new IT system for the planning and 

enforcement service.  Continuous progress has been made with the intention of phasing 
in the new operational system over the next 2 months. A working version of the system 
is currently being tested. The transfer of data from the original system, including 
enforcement records is already well advanced. The new system is more geared to the 
exacting requirements of a modern enforcement service. 

 

 

Page 52



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues 
 

 

  

  

New Cases, especially those requiring action / Member support 

 

12. New alleged waste-related cases, include:  
 

(a) Woodlands Park, Tenterden Road, Biddenden (Schedule / Appendix 1, No. 2) 
 
(b)  Brotherhood Wood Yard, A299 Thanet Way, Dargate, Swale (Schedule / Appendix 

1, No. 10) 
 
(c) Hooks Hole, Chestnut Street, Borden (Schedule / Appendix 1, No. 11) 
 

 
13. The cases have been investigated and progress made. An outline of each is provided 

within the Schedule at Appendix 1, with an expanded version below. 
 

 

Woodlands Park, Tenterden Road, Biddenden (Member: Mike Hill) 
 
14. Woodlands Park is a residential mobile home site, permitted by Ashford Borough 

Council (ABC). ABC has reported complaints received from local residents of alleged 
depositing and storage of waste materials on an adjacent agricultural field (see 
Schedule / Appendix 1, No. 2).  A similar complaint was reported to the Regulation 
Committee early last year. That was speedily resolved on an informal basis by removal 
of the waste materials to a registered landfill site. 

 
15. This latest activity is ancillary waste depositing from remedial works on an adjacent site. 

That would normally fall to ABC to enforce.  However, on this latest occasion, a multi-
agency site visit involving KCC, ABC and the Environment Agency (EA) has been 
carried out and a meeting held with the site operator and his building contractor. A 
united stand  has been taken by the regulators. 

 
16. Small stockpiles of assorted waste materials and a derelict mobile home structure were 

found on site, arising from adjacent renovation works. It was agreed by the operator that 
the deposited waste materials would be removed by mid-June 2010.   A further joint 
agency monitoring visit will take place on 15 June 2010 to ensure compliance.    

 
17. A separate EA prosecution is under consideration. The derelict mobile home has already 

been removed and the operator has approached ABC concerning a proposed track to 
connect the field with the adjoining site.  This would provide vehicular access during the 
winter months and if granted could in part be constructed from materials already on site.     

 
18. I shall report the outcome of the next joint agency visit and details of any EA prosecution 

when the next Regulation Committee convenes on 9 September 2010. I would 
meanwhile seek endorsement from the Committee on a contingency basis for the 
service of an Enforcement Notice should that prove necessary. 

 

 

 

Page 53



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues 
 

 

  

  

Brotherhood Wood Yard, A299 Thanet Way, Dargate (Member: Andrew Bowles) 
 
19. The local County Member Andrew Bowles, together with Dunkirk Parish Council recently 

reported unusual heavy traffic flows connected with the above site. (see Schedule / 
Appendix 1, No. 10). 

 
20. Swale Borough Council (SBC) granted planning permission on 12th October 2007 for 2 

twin residential / touring caravans and the erection of stables at the above site. The 
County Council voluntarily gave some technical advice on the engineering works 
necessary to complete the development. Those included a hard surface, which from all 
indications was completed at the time.  

 
21. Recent inputs to the site have included supplies of crushed concrete, hardcore and road 

planings. Those have been used to develop paddocks for the keeping and breeding of 
horses, which constitutes a district matter.  

 
22. Inputs have been suspended and SBC have apparently invited a retrospective planning 

application. There is no current basis for County Council intervention but I shall maintain 
a watching brief.   

 

Hooks Hole, Chestnut Street, Borden (Member: Keith Ferrin) 

 

23. This case was reported by Borden Parish Council and Swale Borough Council (SBC). It 
concerns alleged infilling of a former gravel pit (see Schedule / Appendix 1, No. 11). The 
site was the subject of a planning application in 2008 to carry out a similar operation to 
create land for cattle grazing. No compelling case of need was apparent at the time and 
the application was withdrawn.  

 
24. A Planning Contravention Notice was served on the landowner to uncover the 

circumstances of this current alleged breach. A site meeting then established that the 
use of the land changed in 2009 from the rearing of cattle to the creation of a horse-
based enterprise.  Indeed, SBC have granted planning permission for the conversion of 
cattle sheds to stables, which has helped to facilitate this new use.  

 
25. To apparently assist his new business still further and without authority, the owner / 

occupier began to infill the disused gravel pit. The upper section of land has not been 
filled but has been laid with sand derived from within the farm unit. A sand based 
manège has been created for horse training, which is a district matter. Attempts have 
then been made to infill the adjoining depression with on-site materials and imported 
waste. The intention is apparently to achieve a level grassed area for the safe training 
and grazing of horses.  That would require planning permission, which given the new 
horse-related context would appear to fall to SBC to determine.  

 
26. I have given the landowner an opportunity to discuss a potential planning application 

with SBC. He has voluntarily ceased all further importations of waste materials pending 
the outcome of any submitted scheme of land engineering. I propose in the meanwhile 
to reserve enforcement action on that agreed basis. I would seek Members’ 
endorsement however for the service of an Enforcement Notice and / or injunctive action 
in the event of a recurrence of tipping. 

Page 54



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues 
 

 

  

  

 
27. I have separately made my team available to offer technical expertise to SBC on any 

such land restoration project, should that assist. I have required to be consulted overall 
on the scheme.  

 

Significant on-going cases    
 

Deal Field Shaw, Charing (Member: Richard King) 
 
28. This landfill site requiring restoration is the subject of an exempt report to these papers 

(Item 9); also see summary under No. 1 of Schedule / Appendix 1.  

 

 

Aylesford Metals Co. Ltd, Millhall, Aylesford  (Member: Peter Homewood) 

 
29. This case involves a site with a 1971 Planning Permission for use as a Scrap yard.  A 

confirmed 1972 County Council Enforcement Notice also applies (see Schedule 2, No. 
3). The site also benefits from an outline planning permission granted by Tonbridge & 
Malling Borough Council (TMBC) in 2005 to develop the yard for housing. 

 
30. The main allegations concern working outside permitted hours, which involves the traffic 

movements of large goods vehicles exiting the site in the early morning and disturbing 
the rest of the local residents.  There are further concerns of visual impact from the over-
stacking of the stockpiles of scrap metals.  

 
31. The operator is committed to remove his scrap metal operations to a new site in the 

locality and develop the present site for housing.  A possible site has been identified, 
able subject to planning permission from Maidstone Borough Council to house storage 
bins and overnight parking of the site vehicles currently employed at the Millhall site.  
That offers the potential for alleviating current amenity impacts to local residents, 
particularly relating to early morning traffic movements.  

 
32. Notwithstanding, the potential re-location, there remains a level of breaching. It is true 

that the operator is continuing in his efforts to reduce the stockpile heights to a more 
acceptable level. I shall be reinforcing that requirement at the next review meeting on 
site.  

 
33. Should I encounter any level of resistance I would seek compliance through means of a 

High Court Injunction. I have fully briefed and retained a barrister for that purpose. 
Members’ continuing support is sought on a contingency basis for this approach.   

 

 

D & D Waste Recycling Ltd, Units 6,12 & 13 Detling Airfield, Detling (Member: Ms 

J.Whittle)  
 

34. I reported this case to the last Meeting (see Appendix 2, Schedule 2, No. 1). A small 
original waste transfer station on the Detling Industrial Estate, Detling, permitted in 1995 
has been expanded without planning permission across two adjoining industrial units.  

Page 55



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues 
 

 

  

  

The County Council holds a confirmed Enforcement Notice on two of the resulting three-
unit footprint for the activity. Conditions attached to the original planning permission are 
also available to use to help control the situation. 

 
35. Having threatened enforcement action and prosecution from site breaching, talks have 

turned to a potential planning solution for the site. A planning application has been 
drafted, linking the three units into one, with a dedicated building enclosing the core of 
the use. The application is due to be submitted very shortly 

 
36. Members resolved at the last meeting for enforcement action to be reserved pending the 

outcome of any planning application. That however was on the proviso of no escalation 
in the level of activity on site. Unfortunately, that has occurred. The operator was away 
on honeymoon and was kept from flying back by the volcanic ash incident. Contingency 
management was not in place and stockpiles of transfer waste grew excessively.  

 
37. On his return I insisted on an immediate reduction in the levels of waste on site. That 

has taken place and I am content to regard this lapse in site control as an isolated 
incident. Nevertheless, a lower but persistent level of breaching remains and the 
planning application has still to be received. I therefore intend to set a deadline for its 
submission. In addition I also intend to require the proposed dedicated waste building to 
be completely enclosed. That is in line with planning requirements and the minimum 
return in my view for the level of breaching experienced and the patience and restraint 
shown by the County Council in its measured approach to the case.  

 
38. I seek Members support for the above enforcement stance, including an amenity return 

from full enclosure of the proposed waste building.    

 

Other cases of interest and those requested by Members 
 

Tutsham Farm, Hunt Street, West Farleigh (Member: Mrs Paulina Stockell) 
 
39. This site is situated on the southern bank of the River Medway, overlooking Teston 

Country Park. The case has previously been reported to this Committee and I am now 
bringing some recent developments to Members attention. The alleged breach concerns 
the importation and depositing of large volumes of mixed waste construction materials, 
arising from the landowner’s groundworks business.   

 
40. By tactical agreement, the Environment Agency (EA) assumed the enforcement lead as 

they had all necessary powers through their waste, pollution control and river protection 
remits.  They also held the ability to trace the origin of the tipped material through waste 
transfer documentation and have powers to require the removal of waste on site. 

 
41. The EA’s research and case preparation has been painstaking and long but I am 

pleased to relay on their behalf that they have now successfully prosecuted the 
landowner, operator and his business. My officers assisted with a supporting statement. 
Each party were recently convicted in the Magistrates Court for waste-related offences.  
Fines and costs in excess of £71,000 were imposed / awarded. 

 
 

Page 56



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues 
 

 

  

  

42. This case demonstrates several points. Firstly, planning powers whilst available in many 
waste cases are not necessarily the best and most effective powers to use in every 
situation. Each case has to be tactically assessed in enforcement terms on its own 
merits. The calculation here was that the EA had a wider base of controls to draw upon, 
which in combination would eventually prove a more potent force in court. That 
judgement has been vindicated, given the upper level of fines and costs. 

 

 

Monks Lake (formerly Riverfield Fish Farm), Maidstone Road, Staplehurst 

(Member: Mrs Paulina Stockell) 

 
43. Members have previously expressed concern over the apparent lack of planning control 

over this site, which was initially granted planning permission by Maidstone Borough 
Council (MBC) as a fish farm (with ancillary buildings and parking).   

 
44. MBC held the enforcement lead and served an Enforcement Notice, resulting in a Public 

Inquiry. My officers offered advice and expertise at the outset and at key points in this 
action. The Public Inquiry was adjourned and MBC have now granted retrospective 
planning permission for the alleged over-developed site. I am seeking details of the 
permission for our records and to enable me to better inform Members on the outcome 
of the case.  

 
 

Monitoring  
 

Monitoring of permitted sites and update on chargeable monitoring 
 
45. In addition to our general visits to sites as a result of planning application work, we also 

undertake routine visits specifically to formally monitor sites.  Since the last Regulation 
Committee, we have made a further 9 chargeable monitoring visits to mineral and waste 
sites and 9 non-chargeable visits to sites not falling within the chargeable monitoring 
regime.    

 

Resolved or mainly resolved cases requiring monitoring 
  
46. Alongside the chargeable monitoring regime there is also a need to maintain a watching 

brief on resolved or mainly resolved enforcement cases which have the potential to 
reoccur.  

 
47. Cases are periodically removed to make way for others when the situation on site has 

been stabilised; restoration or acceptable restoration has been achieved, a district or 
Environment Agency (EA) remit confirmed (or with action being a realistic possibility by 
them). Another occasion is where a planning application would address the various 
issues and there is the realistic prospect of one being submitted. Cases then go onto a 
‘reserve’ data base, with an in-built monitoring commitment; ready to be returned to the 
Committee’s agenda should further enforcement issues emerge or a positive planning 
solution becomes available. The Red Lion Wharf case, reported in paragraphs 8 to 10 
above, is a case in point.  

 

Page 57



  

   

Update on Planning Enforcement Issues 
 

 

  

  

48. The running list of sites which fall within this category has been incorporated into a 
spreadsheet database and priorities set for enforcement monitoring.  

 

 

Conclusion 
 

49. A flow of challenging cases has been presented since the last Meeting. In particular, 
there have been a run of alleged breaches, which though involving waste have emerged 
as District Matters. That is because the purpose behind such schemes is often some 
form of land engineering, using waste as a construction material. In each case, I have 
carried out initial restraining action. I have then assisted in tackling the breach by 
attending multi-agency meetings and by offering technical support and enforcement 
advice. I have finally disengaged on an ordered basis, ensuring first that a means exists 
for the breach to be addressed. 

 

Recommendation 
 

50. I RECOMMEND that MEMBERS: 
 
(i) ENDORSE the actions taken or contemplated on the respective cases set out in 

paragraphs 8 to 44 above and those contained within Schedules 1 and 2 of 
Appendices 1 and 2. 

 
 

  
Case Officers:   Robin Gregory                                                                     01622  221067        
 
Background Documents: see heading  
 

 
 

Page 58



 

 

Regulation Committee – 18
th
 May 2010           Appendix 1  

 

Active Enforcement Cases 

  

Schedule 1: Contraventions on (part) unauthorised sites 

 
 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

 

Ashford 

 

DC3/AS/03/COMP/0090 

Shaw Grange, Charing 

 

(Member: Richard King) 

 

 

 

 

Previous multiple breaching 

of landfill permissions, 

Enforcement Notices and 

High Court Injunctions 

  

 

 

 

To secure restoration of the 

site. 

 

 

 

The County Council now 

owns the site and has set 

about resolving the 

restoration issues. 

 

 

 

This landfill site is the 

subject of an exempt report 

to these papers (see Item 9).  

 

 

2 

 

DC3/AS/09COMP/0009 

Woodlands Park, 

Biddenden 

 

(Member: Michael Hill) 

 

 

The alleged depositing of 

waste materials on adjacent 

agricultural land 
 

 

To investigate and establish 

whether the activity is a 

County Waste Matter or not. 

 

A site meeting and 

inspection established that 

the land is owned by the 

Park operator. Waste 

materials had been 

deposited following 

groundwork / demolition 

operations within the Park. 

 

The deposited waste has 

arisen from operations 

permitted by Ashford B.C. 

They therefore hold the lead 

and have secured the 

landowner’s agreement to 

remove the errant materials 

(see paragraphs 14 -18 of 

Item 6 of these papers). 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 5

9



 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

3 

 

Canterbury 

 

DC3/CA/09/COMP/0013 

Seasalter Lane, Seasalter 

 

(Member:  Mike Harrison / 

Mark Dance) 

 

 

 

 

Canterbury City Council 

originally reported the 

alleged depositing of waste 

materials under the A299 

flyover, off Seasalter Lane. 

That is now a base for 

building–related purposes.  

The case is a Canterbury 

City Council (CCC) matter. 

 

 

 

 

To determine the County 

Council’s responsibility 

towards the alleged breach.  

 

 

 

CCC has not pursued the 

breach. Nevertheless, KCC 

owns part of the land and 

controls the rest. In my 

view, we have a corporate 

duty (via KCC Highways / 

Property Services) to 

address the breach and 

secure protection of the 

land and the flyover. 

 

 

 

 

Direct action is probably 

required to remove the 

alleged trespassers. I shall 

keep Members informed as 

to progress and assist where 

appropriate from a corporate 

standpoint, within my 

sphere of expertise. 

 

 

 

 

4 

 

Gravesham 

 

DC3/GR/COMP/0013 

Red Lion Wharf 

Crete Hall Road 

Northfleet 

 

(Member Leslie Christie / 

Harold Craske) 

 

 

 

 

Importation of waste wood, 

stockpiling and shredding.  

 

 

 

To cease importation and 

secure removal of the high 

residual stockpile of waste 

wood.  

 

 

 

SEEDA as the landowner 

responsible have attempted 

to find process outlets for 

the waste wood. That has 

attracted a specialist firm 

to the site.  

 

 

 

A planning application is 

due to be submitted shortly 

for temporary wood 

shredding on site, pending 

regeneration of the wharf. 

The scheme includes 

removal of the original 

stockpile (See paragraphs 8-

10 of Item 6). 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

0



 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

5 

 

Maidstone 

 

DC3/MA/05/COMP/0010 

Monk Lake (formerly 

known as Riverfield Fish 

Farm), Staplehurst 

 

(Member: Mrs Paulina 

Stockell) 

 

 

 

Alleged breaches of 

planning permission granted 

by Maidstone BC for a fish 

farm. There has been 

concern over the quantities 

of waste materials entering 

the site (See paragraphs 43 

& 44 of Item 6). 

 

 

 

 

Maidstone BC has primary 

responsibility for enforcing 

the site. 

 

 

 

 

 

Maidstone BC served an 

Enforcement Notice to 

arrest the use and secure 

restoration. That was 

appealed, with a convened 

Public Inquiry, 

immediately adjourned.  

 

 

 

 

Maidstone BC has now 

granted retrospective 

planning permission for the 

enhanced development.  In 

view of this I intend to 

remove this item from the 

Schedules. 

 

 

6 
 

DC3/MA/04/CIMP/0010 

Unit 10, (Blu-3 UK) 

Detling Airfield, Detling, 

Maidstone 

 

(Member: Ms Jenny 

Whittle) 

 

 

 

 

Alleged processing of 

imported waste materials, 

using crushing and screening 

plant.  

 

To verify and arrest the 

breach. 

 

Planning Contravention 

Notice replies have 

uncovered a number of 

operators involved in the 

site. Having been 

challenged, the operators 

have collectively agreed to 

cease the use and restore 

the site. 

  

 

The operators have been 

required to submit a site 

correction plan / timetable 

by 7 May 2010. Should that 

not be submitted and / or 

breaching resume, I would 

seek Member support for 

Injunctive action against all 

identified parties. 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

1



 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

7 
 

DC3/MA/  /COMP/ 

Tutsham Farm, West 

Farleigh 

 

(Member: Ms Paulina 

Stockell) 

 

 

The alleged depositing of 

waste materials on 

agricultural land 

 

 

To assist and support the 

Environment Agency who 

have taken the enforcement 

lead 

 

The landowner, operator 

and business were recently 

convicted in the 

Magistrates Court for 

waste-related offences. 

The fines and costs were 

in excess of £71,000.  

 

 

The EA prosecution was 

assisted by a supporting 

witness statement provided 

by KCC (see paragraphs 39 

- 42 of Item 6 of these 

papers). 

 

 

 

8 

 

Swale 

 

DC3/SW/05/COMP/0016 

Woodgers Wharf, 

Upchurch 

 

(Member: Keith Ferrin) 

 

 

 

 

Unauthorised use of marine 

wharf for screening and 

crushing of  imported spoil 

and related waste 

management breaches 

 

 

 

To arrest the alleged 

breaches and return the site 

to its lawful wharf-related 

use 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A confirmed Enforcement 

Notice applies, requiring 

restoration of the site.  

However, a potential sea 

defence outlet for the 

extensive stockpile of 

concrete beams on site has 

been found. 

 

 

 

 

Negotiations are progressing 

for release of the beams. 

Any residue could 

potentially provide a hard 

base for new surface uses. 

Discussions with Swale BC 

are progressing along those 

lines. Should they falter; 

action under the 

Enforcement Notice remains 

an option.   

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

2



 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

9 

 

DC3/SW/04/COMP/0059 

Four Gun Field, Upchurch 

 

(Member: Keith Ferrin) 

 

 

Alleged waste-activities on a 

former brickfield related site 

with an associated lawful 

use.  

 

To ensure that no waste-

related use is carried out on 

site, particularly given its 

sensitivity close to housing. 

 

An Enforcement Notice 

was served, appealed 

against, heard at Inquiry 

and upheld. However, the 

landowner / operator have 

an appeal outstanding in 

the High Court, against the 

Planning Inspector’s 

decision.  

 

 

This case is the subject of a 

confidential report (see Item 

10). There are no current 

complaints but continuing 

support is sought for any 

High Court action deemed 

necessary to restrain the use.  

 

 

10 

 

 

DC3/SW/10/COMP/0004 

Brotherhood Wood Yard, 

Dunkirk 

 

(Member: Andrew 

Bowles) 

 

 

The alleged depositing of 

waste materials in woodland 

adjacent to a permitted 

travellers site. 

 

To investigate and see if the 

activity falls within the 

County Council’s waste- 

related remit 

 

The site has been visited 

and inspected by KCC, 

Swale B.C. and the 

Environment Agency. It 

has been accepted as a 

Borough matter. 

 

Swale B.C. has taken the 

lead and apparently invited 

a retrospective application 

for horse paddocks (see 

paragraphs 19–22 of Item 

6). 

 

 

11 
 

DC3/SW/10/COMP/0007 

Hooks Hole, Borden 

 

(Member: Keith Ferrin) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Alleged unauthorised 

infilling of agricultural land 

through the importation and 

depositing of waste 

materials. 

  

To investigate and see if the 

activity falls within the 

County Council’s waste 

related remit 

 

Service of a Planning 

Contravention Notice has 

stopped further tipping. A 

site audit has then revealed 

an apparent change in the 

use of the site from cattle 

grazing to a horse-based 

enterprise.  

 

I am reserving enforcement 

action, pending discussions 

between the landowner and 

Swale BC on the extent of 

any land repair required to 

support the new horse 

related business. I would 

seek Members’ support for 

that stance (see paragraphs 

23-27 of Item 6). 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

3



 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

Tonbridge & Malling 

 

DC3/TM/09/COMP/0019 

‘Rosador’, London Road, 

Wrotham 

 

(Member: Ms Valerie 

Dagger) 

 

 

 

 

Alleged unauthorised 

importation, burning, 

depositing and sorting of 

mixed waste materials 

 

 

 
To investigate and see if the 

activity falls within the 

County Council’s waste- 

related remit 

 

 

 

Alleged mixed use 

breaches of planning 

control are district matters.  

Indeed, Tonbridge & 

Malling BC have agreed to 

take the lead in this 

instance. 

 

 

 

No County Matter issues 

have been found on site but 

I shall continue to support 

the other agencies in their 

handling of a difficult case.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

4



 

 

 

 

Schedule 2: Alleged breaches on Permitted Minerals & Waste Sites     Appendix 2 
 

 
  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maidstone 

 

DC3/MA/04/COMP/0005 

D&D Waste Recycling, 

Units 6,12 & 13 Detling 

Airfield, Detling, 

Maidstone 

 

 

(Member: Ms Jenny 

Whittle) 

 

 

 

 

 

Breaching of conditions 

attached to an existing 1995 

planning permission for a 

Waste Transfer Station and 

expansion onto adjoining 

units in default of a 

confirmed Enforcement 

Notice.  

 

 

 

 

 

To prevent further breaching 

and secure restoration of the 

site. 

 

 

 

 

A new but temporary 

episode of breaching has 

been immediately 

addressed. A planning 

application is due to be 

submitted to rationalise the 

use on the enlarged site 

and house the core 

activities within a fully 

enclosed building. 

 

 

 

 

Enforcement Action has 

been reserved pending the 

outcome of an imminent 

planning application. 

Members’ support is sought 

for that continuing stance on 

the proviso of a reduced 

level of operation (see 

paragraphs 34-38 under 

Item 6).   

 

2 
 

DC3/SE/COMP/007 

Former Brasted Sandpits 

Adjoining Westerham 

Golf Course 

Westerham 

Sevenoaks 

 

(Member: Richard Parry ) 

 

 

Irregularities involved in the 

backfill of a former sand 

extraction.  

 

To achieve a return to 

original ground levels. 

 

The Environment Agency 

successfully prosecuted 

the former landowner / 

operator. The land has 

since been acquired by the 

adjoining golf club. 

 

Positive talks have taken 

place between my own 

officers, Sevenoaks DC and 

the new landowners, on 

restoration options for the 

site. I shall report further as 

a potential scheme emerges.  

 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

5



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Site & Case Reference 

 

 

Alleged Breach 

 

Objectives / Actions 

 

Progress 

 

Notes / Remarks 

 

 

 

 

3 

 

 

 

 

Tonbridge & Malling 

 

DC3/TM/08/COMP/0013 

Aylesford Metals Co. Ltd, 

Mill Hall, Aylesford 

 

(Member:  Peter 

Homewood) 

 

 

 

Complaints from local 

residents of out of hours 

working and visual amenity 

impacts from the over- 

stacking of scrap.  

 

 

 

To ensure compliance with 

the base planning permission 

and related Enforcement 

Notice. 

 

 

 

The site activity has 

intensified over time but 

under pressure from this 

Committee has been 

successfully reined back. 

A potential re-location 

holds the key to resolving 

issues on site. 

 

 

 

 

 

This site is reported in more 

detail in paragraphs 29-33 

of Item 6. Support has 

already been given by 

Members for the service of 

a High Court Injunction on 

any failure by the operator 

to co-operate in 

enforcement terms with this 

Authority. 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

6



Agenda Item 11

Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5, 6 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 12

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5, 6 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes , 29/01/2010 Regulation Committee Member Panel
	Minutes , 19/02/2010 Regulation Committee Member Panel
	Minutes , 19/03/2010 Regulation Committee Member Panel
	Minutes , 27/04/2010 Regulation Committee Member Panel

	5 Update from the Commons Registration Team
	6 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 - Public Rights of Way Diversion and Extinguishment Orders: Service Level Agreement with Ashford Borough Council
	Item 06 Appendix

	7 Update on the Definitive Map Team Casework Schedules. Clarification of the Committee terms of Reference and the County Council's approach to Orders made by the Secretary of State
	Item 07 Appendix 1
	Item 07 Appendix 2

	8 Update on Planning Enforcement Issues
	Item 08 Appendix

	11 Update on Planning Enforcement issues at Deal Field Shaw, Charing
	12 Update on Planning Enforcement issues at Four Gun Field, Upchurch

